

CANONICAL DECOMPOSITION OF L-FUNCTIONS AT NONPOSITIVE INTEGERS

By

Julio de Mello Bezerra

Advisor: Prof. Dr. Guido Kings Co-advisor: Dr. Johannes Sprang

> A thesis submitted to the University of Regensburg for the degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE





Universiteit Leiden

July 2020

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Firstly I would like to thank my advisors Prof. Guido Kings and Dr. Johannes Sprang for the opportunity and guidance. I would also like to acknowledge my Bachelor's advisors Prof. Cecília Salgado and Prof. Luciane Quoos, as well as all my colleagues during my studies, in special Matteo Durante, Pietro Capovilla and Lukas Prader, who directly helped with this thesis. I would also like to thank the ALGANT program and the University of Regensburg which supported my studies with a scholarship.

Lastly and most importantly, I would like to thank my family.

Table of Contents

Page

Notation										
In	trodu	iction	v							
1	1 Hecke L-functions at Nonpositive Integers									
	1.1	Zeta Functions at Nonpositive Integers	1							
	1.2	Geometric Shintani Zeta Function	6							
	1.3	Lerch Zeta Function	9							
	1.4	Non-canonical Decomposition: Special Case	13							
2	Equivariant Cohomology									
	2.1	Equivariant Cohomology of the Algebraic Torus	17							
	2.2	Shintani Generating Class	26							
3	Car	onical Decomposition: Special Case	31							
	3.1	Specialization to Torsion Points	31							
	3.2	Canonical Identification through Group (Co)Homology	32							
4	Car	nonical Decomposition: General Case	40							
	4.1	Non-canonical Decomposition: General Case	40							
	4.2	Generalized Shintani Generating Class	47							
	4.3	Main Theorem	53							
References										

Notation

Throughout this work, we let

 $\mathbb{N} = \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ be the set of natural numbers *including zero*.

F is a totally real field extension of \mathbb{Q} of degree *g*.

I is the set of complex embeddings τ of *F* into \mathbb{C} (where $\operatorname{im}(\tau) \subset \mathbb{R}$ since *F* is totally real).

For any subset $X \subset F$, we denote by X_+ the set of totally real elements of X, that is, the elements $x \in X$ such that $\tau(x) > 0$ for all $\tau \in I$.

We denote by $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ the field of algebraic numbers and fix an embedding $\overline{\mathbb{Q}} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ once and for all. We denote by \overline{F} a fixed Galois closure of F with respect to \mathbb{Q} and fix an embedding $\overline{F} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}$. Elements are written in bold to emphasize the fact that they are tuples. When α is used, we also underline it to indicate that it is a tuple.

Introduction

The goal of this thesis, as the title suggests, is to canonically express the values of Hecke L-functions associated to nontrivial finite Hecke characters at nonpositive integers in terms of equivariant cohomology classes. These values will sometimes be referred to as "special values" of the L-function. We mostly follow the papers [8] and [9] by Bannai, Hagihara, Yamada and Yamamoto.

We begin the thesis by introducing different types of zeta functions and briefly showing how the values of these zeta functions at nonpositive integers may be obtained by differentiating a certain generating function associated to each zeta function. This is used as motivation for the development of the theory that follows, and is a common theme throughout the thesis. In the end, we show how the special values of the Hecke L-functions we are seeking are actually generated by differentiating a canonical class in equivariant cohomology.

Throughout the thesis we assume that the Hecke L-function is defined over a totally real number field F, since for number fields which are not totally real, the values of the Hecke L-functions in which we are interested are all zero. In chapters 1 to 3 we work only on the special case in which the narrow class number of the field F equals 1, but this assumption is only made for simplicity and is removed in chapter 4, where we work on the general case.

We finish chapter 1 by providing a non-canonical decomposition of the Hecke L-function in terms of a linear combination of certain zeta functions, so we may differentiate the generating functions associated to these zeta functions to obtain the special values of the Hecke L-functions we are after. This result is classic and based on the work of Shintani in [14].

In chapter 2 we introduce the theory of equivariant sheaf cohomology on G-schemes and apply it to the algebraic torus \mathbb{T} associated to the number field F. We then show that there exists a canonical class in equivariant cohomology coming from the generating functions associated to the zeta functions we used in the decomposition of the L-function in chapter 1. This canonical class is called the Shintani generating class.

In the third chapter we prove that the special values of the Hecke L-functions can be canonically obtained from differentiating the Shintani generating class, after we specialize it to the torsion points of the algebraic torus \mathbb{T} . This shows that the "right" object to be considered is not a generating function, but a generating class in equivariant cohomology. Some notions from group (co)homology and algebraic topology are used in order to obtain the special values from the class in equivariant cohomology.

In the fourth and last chapter we generalize the methods of the previous chapters in order to obtain the special values canonically in the general case when the narrow class number of F may be greater than one. The main idea consists of considering instead infinitely many copies of tori $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ associated to the fractional ideals \mathfrak{a} of F.

We finish this introduction by remarking that these special values are all algebraic and satisfy interesting congruence relations, giving rise to p-adic L-functions interpolating them. Equivariant cohomology is successfully used in the construction of these p-adic L-functions in [11] and [9], which highlights the importance of the theory developed in the present thesis. Unfortunately, these p-adic L-functions lie outside the scope of this thesis.

Chapter One

Hecke L-functions at Nonpositive Integers

1.1 Zeta Functions at Nonpositive Integers

We begin this section by briefly discussing some properties of the *Riemann zeta function* ζ and the *Gamma function* Γ , defined respectively as

$$\zeta(s) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{-s}$$
 and $\Gamma(s) := \int_0^{\infty} e^{-u} u^{s-1} du$,

for $s \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ and respectively for $s \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 0$. Both of these functions can be continued to a meromorphic function in \mathbb{C} (see [1, Théorème VII.2.1] and Lemma 1.1.1 below).

A simple way to relate these two functions is by noting that, for $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$,

$$\lambda^{-s}\Gamma(s) = \int_0^\infty e^{-t\lambda} t^{s-1} dt \tag{1.1}$$

after using the change of variables $u = \lambda t$. Through a simple contour integration argument, this can be extended to $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, $\operatorname{Re}(\lambda) > 0$. Then one can set $\lambda = n$ and sum over all natural numbers, and after justifying the interchange of sum and integral, we get

$$\zeta(s)\Gamma(s) = \int_0^\infty \sum_{n=1}^\infty e^{-nt} t^{s-1} dt.$$

Thus, by setting $G(t) := \frac{e^{-t}}{1-e^{-t}} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} e^{-nt}$, we have:

$$\zeta(s)\Gamma(s) = \int_0^\infty G(t)t^{s-1}dt.$$
(1.2)

More conceptually, the integral on the right hand side is defined as the *Mellin transform* of the function G(t). The following Lemma can be used to give an analytic continuation of ζ and to evaluate it at negative integers:

Lemma 1.1.1. Suppose $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0})$ and all of its derivatives rapidly decrease (that is, they are $O(|x|^{-N})$ as $x \to \infty$ for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$). Then $M(f,s) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty f(t) t^{s-1} dt$, defined for all $s \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 0$, admits an analytic continuation to all of \mathbb{C} , and for $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $M(f, -k) = (-1)^k (\frac{d}{dt})^k f(t)|_{t=0}$.

Proof. See [1, Proposition VII.2.6].

Note that we cannot apply this Lemma directly, since G(t) is not well defined at t = 0. Instead, we use F(t) := tG(t) and the identity

$$\zeta(s) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty G(t) t^{s-1} dt = \frac{1}{(s-1)\Gamma(s-1)} \int_0^\infty F(t) t^{s-2} dt = \frac{1}{s-1} M(F, s-1).$$
(1.3)

Now we may use Lemma 1.1.1 to deduce that $\zeta(-k) = \frac{(-1)^k B_{k+1}}{k+1}$, where $B_k \in \mathbb{Q}$ is the *k*-th *Bernoulli number*, defined by

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n \frac{t^n}{n!} = \frac{t}{e^t - 1} = \frac{te^{-t}}{1 - e^{-t}} = F(t).$$

The above discussion can be generalized to *Dirichlet L-functions*, defined for a multiplicative character $\chi : (\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}$ as

$$L(s,\chi) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \chi(n) n^{-s},$$

where $\chi(n) := \chi(n \mod N)$ if gcd(n, N) = 1 and $\chi(n) = 0$ otherwise. This series is absolutely convergent for Re(s) > 1.

In order to proceed with the generalization it is convenient to introduce another zeta function, the *Hurwitz zeta function*, defined as

$$\zeta(s,x) := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+x)^{-s}$$

for Re(s) > 1 and $0 < x \le 1$. Now we observe that we can obtain the Dirichlet L-function as a linear combination of Hurwitz zeta functions in the following manner:

$$L(s,\chi) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \chi(n) n^{-s} = \sum_{a=1}^{N} \chi(a) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (Nn+a)^{-s} = \sum_{a=1}^{N} \chi(a) N^{-s} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(n + \frac{a}{N}\right)^{-s} = \sum_{a=1}^{N} \chi(a) N^{-s} \zeta\left(s, \frac{a}{N}\right) Z_{n-1}^{-s}$$

We have thus reduced the problem of analytically continuing $L(s, \chi)$ and determining the values of $L(-k, \chi)$ to doing so for $\zeta(s, x)$.

Now we may proceed as in the case of the Riemann zeta, obtaining

$$\Gamma(s)\zeta(s,x) = \int_0^\infty G(t,x)t^{s-1}dt$$

for $G(t, x) := \frac{e^{-xt}}{1 - e^{-t}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e^{-(n+x)t}$. Applying the same reasoning as in (1.3) and Lemma 1.1.1 we get the desired analytic continuation, as well as

$$\zeta(-k,x) = -\frac{B_{k+1}(x)}{k+1}$$
 and $L(-k,\chi) = -\sum_{a=1}^{N} \chi(a) N^k \frac{B_{k+1}(a/N)}{k+1}$

where $B_n(x) \in \mathbb{Q}[x]$ is the *n*-th Bernoulli polynomial, defined by

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n(x) \frac{t^n}{n!} = t \frac{e^{tx}}{e^t - 1} = tG(t, 1 - x) = tG(-t, x)$$

and satisfying

$$B_{n}(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} (-1)^{j} \binom{n}{j} B_{j} x^{n-j}$$

with B_j the previously defined *j*-th Bernoulli number (see [3, Proposition 4.9]).

We also remark that both in the case of the Riemann zeta as well as in the case of the Hurwitz zeta, the meromorphic continuation may be achieved after converting the corresponding integral to

a contour integral which avoids the unique singularity of G at zero (see [10, Chapter 2]).

The next step would be to generalize this method to Hecke L-functions, but this is a much more difficult task. In his breakthrough article [14], Shintani showed how such a generalization could be obtained for Hecke L-functions with finite Hecke characters associated to totally real number fields, to be introduced in the next sections. Following Shintani's work, it is possible to decompose the L-function as a linear combination of now-called Shintani zeta functions, similarly to the case of the Hurwitz zeta functions previously, which in fact occur as special cases. Unlike in the case of the Dirichlet L-functions above, though, this decomposition does not follow from a simple algebraic manipulation, but from a remarkable result of geometric nature called Shintani's Unit Theorem. This Theorem, as well as the decomposition of the L-function, will be presented in the next sections. For now, we finish this section by introducing the Shintani zeta function within our familiar framework, and therefore obtaining its values at negative integers.

Let $A = (a_{ij})$ be a complex $r \times m$ matrix with $Re(a_{ij}) > 0$ for all i and j; $\chi \in \mathbb{C}^r$ with $|\chi_i| \le 1$ for all i; and $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^r$ such that $0 \le x_i \le 1$ for all i, but not all x_i are 0. We define linear forms L_i on \mathbb{C}^m and L_j^* on \mathbb{C}^r by

$$L_i(z) = \sum_{k=1}^m a_{ik} z_k, \quad L_j^*(w) = \sum_{k=1}^r a_{kj} w_k \text{ for } z = (z_1, \dots, z_m), w = (w_1, \dots, w_r).$$

 $L_i(z)$ can be seen as the *i*-th row of Az and $L_j^*(w)$ as the *j*-th column of $w^T A$. Then we define the *Shintani zeta function* of $s \in \mathbb{C}^m$ as

$$\zeta(\boldsymbol{s}, \boldsymbol{A}, \boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{\chi}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{n} \in \mathbb{N}^r} \boldsymbol{\chi}^{\boldsymbol{n}} \prod_{j=1}^m L_j^* (\boldsymbol{n} + \boldsymbol{x})^{-s_j}.$$

Note that when A = 1 and $\chi = 1$, $\zeta(s, A, x, \chi) = \zeta(s, x)$ the Hurwitz zeta function. We also note that the Shintani zeta function converges absolutely when $\text{Re}(s_i) > \frac{r}{m}$ for all *i*.

We proceed as before, introducing the function

$$G(\boldsymbol{t}, \boldsymbol{A}, \boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{\chi}) \coloneqq \sum_{\boldsymbol{n} \in \mathbb{N}^r} \boldsymbol{\chi}^{\boldsymbol{n}} e^{-\sum_{j=1}^m L_j^*(\boldsymbol{n} + \boldsymbol{x})t_j}$$

for $t \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$ and noting that

$$G(t, A, \boldsymbol{x}, \chi) = \prod_{i=1}^{r} \frac{e^{-x_i L_i(t)}}{1 - \chi_i e^{-L_i(t)}}.$$

It then follows as before that

$$\zeta(\mathbf{s}, A, \mathbf{x}, \chi) = \int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty G(\mathbf{t}, A, \mathbf{x}, \chi) \prod_{j=1}^m \frac{t_j^{s_j - 1}}{\Gamma(s_j)} dt_j.$$
(1.4)

Converting this integral into a contour integral convergent for all $s \in \mathbb{C}^m$ cannot be done in a straightforward manner as before, but first requires a partition of \mathbb{R}^m_+ into *m* special regions together with a change of variables in each region, a method ingeniously devised by Shintani in [14]. In this manner, it is possible to obtain a meromorphic continuation of $\zeta(s, A, x, \chi)$ to all of \mathbb{C}^m .

In the case of $\chi_i \neq 1$ for all $i \leq m$, we are able to use the following generalization of 1.1.1 to obtain the analytic continuation and the values of the Shintani zeta function at negative integers:

Lemma 1.1.2. Suppose $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{m}_{\geq 0})$ rapidly decreases, as well as all of its partial derivatives. Then $M(f, \mathbf{s}) := \int_{0}^{\infty} \cdots \int_{0}^{\infty} f(\mathbf{t}) \prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{t_{j}^{s_{j}-1}}{\Gamma(s_{j})} dt_{j}$, defined for all $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{C}^{m}$ with $Re(s_{j}) > 0$ for all j, admits an analytic continuation to all of \mathbb{C}^{m} , and for $\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{N}^{m}$, $M(f, -\mathbf{k}) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} (-\frac{\partial}{\partial t_{i}})^{k_{i}} f(t)|_{t=0}$. *Proof.* This follows easily from 1.1.1. Also appears in [2, Lemme 3.2].

Indeed, the function $G(t, A, x, \chi)$ satisfies the hypotheses of the Lemma for $\chi_i \neq 1 \ \forall i \leq m$. In fact, it has no singularities in a neighbourhood of zero, so we may obtain its power series expansion around 0 as

$$G(\boldsymbol{t}, \boldsymbol{A}, \boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{\chi}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{n} \in \mathbb{N}^m} B_{\boldsymbol{n}+1}(\boldsymbol{x}) \prod_{i=1}^m \frac{t_i^{n_i}}{(n_i+1)!}.$$

We may call the $B_n(x)$ generalized Bernoulli polynomials, since they reduce to Bernoulli polynomials when m = 1, and remark that they have rational coefficients. Just like before, we conclude that

$$\zeta((-k,\ldots,-k),A,\boldsymbol{x},\chi) = (-1)^{mk} \frac{B_{\boldsymbol{k}+1}(\boldsymbol{x})}{(k+1)^m} \text{ for } \boldsymbol{k} \in \mathbb{N}.$$

1.2 Geometric Shintani Zeta Function

In this section we introduce zeta functions associated to certain geometric cones, and obtain its values at negative integers after a decomposition into Shintani zeta functions.

First, let *F* be a totally real number field of degree *g* over \mathbb{Q} , and let O_F be its ring of integers. We denote by O_{F+} the set of totally positive integers and by $\Delta := O_{F+}^{\times}$ the set of totally positive units of *F*. Furthermore, we call *I* the set of embeddings $\tau : F \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ and set $\alpha^{\tau} := \tau(\alpha)$. Note that we have a canonical \mathbb{R} -linear isomorphism

$$F \otimes \mathbb{R} \cong \mathbb{R}^I \coloneqq \prod_{\tau \in I} \mathbb{R}, \qquad \alpha \otimes 1 \mapsto (\alpha^{\tau}).$$
 (1.5)

In what follows, we fix a numbering $I = \{\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_g\}$ of elements in I, and use $\mathbb{R}^I = \mathbb{R}^g$ interchangeably. We will next define the geometric Shintani zeta function associated to a cone.

Definition 1.2.1. A rational closed polyhedral cone in $\mathbb{R}^{I}_{+} \cup \{0\}$, which we simply call a cone, is any set of the form

$$\sigma_{\alpha} \coloneqq \{x_1\alpha_1 + \ldots + x_m\alpha_m \mid x_1, \ldots, x_m \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}\}$$

for some $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_m) \in O_{F^+}^m$, where $\alpha \in O_{F^+}$ is seen as an element of \mathbb{R}^I through the isomorphism (1.5). In this case, we say that $\underline{\alpha}$ is a generator of $\sigma_{\underline{\alpha}}$. By considering the case m = 0, we see that $\sigma = \{0\}$ is a cone.

We define the dimension dim σ of a cone σ to be the dimension of the \mathbb{R} -vector space generated by σ . For any subset $R \subset \mathbb{R}^{I}_{+}$, we let

$$\check{R} \coloneqq \{(u_{\tau_1}, \dots, u_{\tau_g}) \in \mathbb{R}^I_+ \mid \exists \delta > 0, \ 0 < \forall \delta' < \delta, (u_{\tau_1}, \dots, u_{\tau_{g-1}}, u_{\tau_g} - \delta') \in R\}.$$

Note that by definition, if dim $\sigma < g$, then we have $\check{\sigma} = \emptyset$, where $\check{\sigma}$ is the cone without the (g-1)-dimensional lower face.

Definition 1.2.2. Let σ be a cone, and let $\phi: O_F \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a finite order additive character on O_F which factors through O_F/\mathfrak{f} for some nonzero ideal $\mathfrak{f} \subset O_F$ (note that this implies $|\phi(\alpha)| = 1$ for all $\alpha \in O_F$). We define the *geometric Shintani zeta function* $\zeta_{\sigma}(\phi, s)$ associated to a cone σ and character ϕ by the series

$$\zeta_{\sigma}(\phi, \mathbf{s}) \coloneqq \sum_{\alpha \in \check{\sigma} \cap \mathcal{O}_F} \phi(\alpha) \prod_{j=1}^{g} (\alpha^{\tau_j})^{-s_j}, \tag{1.6}$$

where $s = (s_j) \in \mathbb{C}^g$. The series (1.6) converges if $\operatorname{Re}(s_j) > 1$ for all $j \leq g$.

If we let s = (s, ..., s) for $s \in \mathbb{C}$, then we have

$$\zeta_{\sigma}(\phi, (s, \dots, s)) = \sum_{\alpha \in \check{\sigma} \cap \mathcal{O}_F} \phi(\alpha) N(\alpha)^{-s}.$$
(1.7)

Proposition 1.2.3. The geometric Shintani zeta function associated to a g-dimensional cone σ and character ϕ can be written as a linear combination of Shintani zeta functions.

Proof. Let $\sigma = \sigma_{\underline{\alpha}}$ be a *g*-dimensional cone generated by $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_g) \in O_{F^+}^g$, and we let $P_{\underline{\alpha}} := \{x_1\alpha_1 + \dots + x_g\alpha_g \mid \forall i \ 0 \le x_i \le 1\}$ be the parallelepiped spanned by $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_g$. First, note that $\check{P}_{\underline{\alpha}} \cap O_F$ is finite since $P_{\underline{\alpha}}$ is compact and O_F is a lattice when embedded into $F \otimes \mathbb{R} \cong \mathbb{R}^g$.

Now, let $R^{\sigma}_{\underline{\alpha}}$ be the set of $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^g$ such that $\mathbf{x} \cdot \underline{\alpha} = (x_1\alpha_1, \dots, x_g\alpha_g) \in \check{\sigma} \cap O_F$ and $R^P_{\underline{\alpha}}$ the set of $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^g$ such that $\mathbf{x} \cdot \underline{\alpha} \in \check{P}_{\underline{\alpha}} \cap O_F$. Then we claim that $R^{\sigma}_{\underline{\alpha}} = R^P_{\underline{\alpha}} \oplus \mathbb{N}^g$. Indeed, given $\mathbf{x} \in R^{\sigma}_{\underline{\alpha}}$, it can be uniquely written as $(\lfloor x_1 \rfloor, \dots, \lfloor x_g \rfloor) + (\{x_1\}, \dots, \{x_g\})$, where $(\lfloor x_1 \rfloor, \dots, \lfloor x_g \rfloor) \in \mathbb{N}^g$ and $(\{x_1\}, \dots, \{x_g\}) \in R^P_{\underline{\alpha}}$. Note also that $\phi(x_1\alpha_1 + \dots + x_g\alpha_g) = \phi(\{x_1\}\alpha_1 + \dots + \{x_g\}\alpha_g) \prod_{i=1}^g \phi(\alpha_i)^{\lfloor x_i \rfloor}$.

Furthermore, since σ is *g*-dimensional, $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g$ form a basis of *F* over \mathbb{Q} , so $\mathbf{x} \in R^{\sigma}_{\underline{\alpha}}$ implies that $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Q}^g$, thus we may conclude that for every $\tau \in I$, $\tau(x_1\alpha_1 + \ldots + x_g\alpha_g) = x_1\tau(\alpha_1) + \ldots + x_g\tau(\alpha_g)$. We may then rewrite $\zeta_{\sigma}(\phi, \mathbf{s})$ as

$$\zeta_{\sigma}(\phi, \mathbf{s}) = \sum_{\beta \in \check{\sigma} \cap O_{F}} \phi(\beta) \prod_{j=1}^{g} (\beta^{\tau_{j}})^{-s_{j}} = \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in R_{\underline{\alpha}}^{\sigma}} \left[\phi(x_{1}\alpha_{1} + \dots + x_{g}\alpha_{g}) \prod_{j=1}^{g} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{g} x_{i}\alpha_{i}^{\tau_{j}} \right)^{-s_{j}} \right] =$$
$$= \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in R_{\underline{\alpha}}^{P}} \left[\phi(\{x_{1}\}\alpha_{1} + \dots + \{x_{g}\}\alpha_{g}) \sum_{\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{N}^{g}} \left(\prod_{m=1}^{g} \phi(\alpha_{l})^{n_{l}} \prod_{j=1}^{g} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{g} (x_{i} + n_{i})\alpha_{i}^{\tau_{j}} \right)^{-s_{j}} \right) \right] =$$

$$=\sum_{\boldsymbol{x}\in R^P_{\underline{\alpha}}}\phi(\{x_1\}\alpha_1+\cdots+\{x_g\}\alpha_g)\zeta(\boldsymbol{s},\boldsymbol{A},\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{\chi}),$$

where

$$A := \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1^{\tau_1} & \cdots & \alpha_1^{\tau_g} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \alpha_g^{\tau_1} & \cdots & \alpha_g^{\tau_g} \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \chi := (\phi(\alpha_1), \dots, \phi(\alpha_g)).$$

The claim now follows from the finiteness of $R^P_{\underline{\alpha}}$.

Definition 1.2.4. We define $\mathscr{G}_{\sigma}(t)$ to be the meromorphic function on $F \otimes \mathbb{C} \cong \mathbb{C}^{I}$ given by

$$\mathscr{G}_{\sigma}(t) \coloneqq \frac{\sum_{\alpha \in \check{P}_{\underline{\alpha}} \cap O_F} e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha t)}}{\left(1 - e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_1 t)}\right) \cdots \left(1 - e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_g t)}\right)},$$

where $\operatorname{Tr}(\alpha t) \coloneqq \sum_{\tau \in I} \alpha^{\tau} t_{\tau}$ for any $\alpha \in O_F$, and $\check{P}_{\underline{\alpha}} \cap O_F$ was defined in the proof of Proposition 1.2.3. The definition of $\mathscr{G}_{\sigma}(t)$ depends only on the cone and is independent of the choice of the generator $\underline{\alpha}$, which will be clear by Corollary 1.2.6 below.

Remark 1.2.5. If $F = \mathbb{Q}$ and $\sigma = \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$, then we have $\mathscr{G}_{\sigma}(t) = \frac{e^{2\pi i t}}{1 - e^{2\pi i t}}$, which is exactly the previously defined G(t) from (1.2) after the normalization $t \mapsto -2\pi i t$.

For $\mathbf{k} = (k_{\tau}) \in \mathbb{N}^{I}$, we denote $\partial^{\mathbf{k}} \coloneqq \prod_{\tau \in I} \partial_{\tau}^{k_{\tau}}$, where $\partial_{\tau} \coloneqq \frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{\tau}}$. For $u \in F$, we let ξ_{u} be the finite additive character on O_{F} defined by $\xi_{u}(\alpha) \coloneqq e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha u)}$. We note that any additive character ϕ on O_{F} with values in \mathbb{C}^{\times} of finite order is of this form for some $u \in F$ (see (2.5) in Chapter 2).

We can now use (1.4) and 1.1.2 to obtain the following Corollary from Proposition 1.2.3.

Corollary 1.2.6. Let $\underline{\alpha}$ and σ be as in Definition 1.2.4. For any $u \in F$ satisfying $\xi_u(\alpha_j) \neq 1$ for j = 1, ..., g, we have

$$\partial^{\boldsymbol{k}} \mathscr{G}_{\sigma}(t) \Big|_{t=u\otimes 1} = \zeta_{\sigma}(\xi_u, -\boldsymbol{k}).$$

Proof. We fix $u \in F$ and set $\phi = \xi_u$ and \mathbf{x}_{α} as the unique $\mathbf{x} \in R^P_{\underline{\alpha}}$ determined by $\alpha \in \check{P}_{\underline{\alpha}} \cap O_F$. Let now $\zeta(\mathbf{s}, A, \mathbf{x}_{\alpha}, \chi)$ be the zeta function from the proof of Proposition 1.2.3. Let $G(t, A, \mathbf{x}_{\alpha}, \chi)$ be

the corresponding generating function, given by

$$G(t, A, \boldsymbol{x}_{\alpha}, \chi) = \frac{e^{-\operatorname{Tr}(\alpha t)}}{(1 - e^{-\operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_{1}t)}e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_{1}u)}) \cdots (1 - e^{-\operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_{g}t)}e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_{g}u)})}$$

where we note that the condition $\xi_u(\alpha_j) \neq 1$ for j = 1, ..., g means that $\chi_i \neq 1$ for all *i*. Now, from Proposition 1.2.3, we have that

$$\zeta_{\sigma}(\xi_{u}, \boldsymbol{s}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{x} \in R_{\underline{\alpha}}^{P}} \prod_{m=1}^{g} (e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_{m}u)})^{x_{m}} \zeta(\boldsymbol{s}, A, \boldsymbol{x}, \chi) = \sum_{\alpha \in \breve{P}_{\underline{\alpha}} \cap \mathcal{O}_{F}} (e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha u)}) \zeta(\boldsymbol{s}, A, \boldsymbol{x}_{\alpha}, \chi).$$

Evaluating at -k and using Lemma 1.1.2 gives

$$\zeta_{\sigma}(\xi_{u},-\boldsymbol{k}) = \prod_{i=1}^{g} \left(-\frac{\partial}{\partial t_{i}}\right)^{k_{i}} \frac{\sum_{\alpha \in \check{P}_{\underline{\alpha}} \cap O_{F}} (e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha u)}) e^{-\operatorname{Tr}(\alpha t)}}{(1 - e^{-\operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_{1}t)} e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_{1}u)}) \cdots (1 - e^{-\operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_{g}t)} e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_{g}u)})} \bigg|_{t=0},$$

and finally the variable change $t \mapsto -2\pi i t$ gives

$$\zeta_{\sigma}(\xi_{u}, -\mathbf{k}) = \partial^{\mathbf{k}} \mathcal{G}_{\sigma}(t+u) \Big|_{t=0} = \partial^{\mathbf{k}} \mathcal{G}_{\sigma}(t) \Big|_{t=u \otimes 1}$$

	-		

1.3 Lerch Zeta Function

Before giving the decomposition of the Hecke L-functions, we introduce yet another zeta function, called Lerch zeta function, which best captures the multiplicative action of Δ on O_F . Let $\mathbb{T}(\mathbb{C}) :=$ $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O_F, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$ be the abelian group of \mathbb{Z} -module morphisms and $\xi \in \mathbb{T}(\mathbb{C})$ be a \mathbb{C}^{\times} -valued character of O_F of finite order. For $\varepsilon \in \Delta$ we write $\xi^{\varepsilon}(\alpha) := \xi(\varepsilon \alpha)$ for any $\alpha \in O_F$, and denote by $\Delta_{\xi} := \{\varepsilon \in \Delta \mid \xi^{\varepsilon} = \xi\}$ the isotropic (or stabilizer) subgroup of ξ . Now we prove the following Lemma.

Lemma 1.3.1. Let ξ be a character of finite order. Then Δ_{ξ} is a subgroup of Δ of finite index.

Proof. Let $\Delta \cdot \xi$ be the Δ -orbit of ξ , that is, the set of all ξ^{ε} for $\varepsilon \in \Delta$. Since $\xi : O_F/\mathfrak{f} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ for some ideal \mathfrak{f} of O_F , we have that $\Delta \cdot \xi \subset \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O_F/\mathfrak{f}, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$, which is a group of finite order equal to $N(\mathfrak{f})$. Therefore by the orbit-stabilizer theorem we deduce the claim.

We define a function $\xi \Delta$ on O_F to be the sum over the Δ -orbit of ξ :

$$\xi\Delta\coloneqq \sum_{\varepsilon\in\Delta/\Delta_{\xi}}\xi^{\varepsilon}.$$

By definition, $\xi \Delta$ satisfies $\xi^{\varepsilon} \Delta = \xi \Delta$ for any $\varepsilon \in \Delta$ and defines a map $\xi \Delta : \Delta \setminus O_F \to \mathbb{C}$, where $\Delta \setminus O_F$ denotes the quotient of O_F by the equivalence relation induced by the multiplicative action of Δ on O_F .

We define the Lerch zeta function by the series

$$\mathcal{L}(\xi\Delta, s) \coloneqq \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \mathcal{O}_{F^{+}}} \xi(\alpha) N(\alpha)^{-s}.$$
(1.8)

This sum converges absolutely for Re(s) > 1 and may be continued meromorphically to the whole complex plane, being entire if $\xi \neq 1$.

Remark 1.3.2. Note that we have

$$\mathcal{L}(\xi\Delta,s) = \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta \setminus \mathcal{O}_{F+}} \sum_{\varepsilon \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Delta} \xi(\varepsilon\alpha) N(\alpha)^{-s} = \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta \setminus \mathcal{O}_{F+}} \xi\Delta(\alpha) N(\alpha)^{-s}.$$

The importance of $\mathcal{L}(\xi \Delta, s)$ is in its relation to the Hecke *L*-functions of *F*. Let \mathfrak{f} be a nonzero integral ideal of O_F . For a non-zero prime ideal \mathfrak{p} of O_F and $\alpha \in F$, we write $\alpha \equiv 1 \mod^{\times} \mathfrak{p}^n$ if $\alpha \in 1 + \mathfrak{p}^n O_{F,\mathfrak{p}}$, for $O_{F,\mathfrak{p}}$ the ring localized at \mathfrak{p} . Then if $\mathfrak{f} = \prod_{i=1}^n \mathfrak{p}_i^{n_i}$, we write $\alpha \equiv 1 \mod^{\times} \mathfrak{f}$ if $\alpha \equiv 1 \mod^{\times} \mathfrak{p}_i^{n_i}$ for all $i \leq n$. This is equivalent to requiring that $\beta \equiv \gamma \mod \mathfrak{f}$ for $\alpha = \frac{\beta}{\gamma}, \beta, \gamma \in O_F$, as long as $\overline{\beta}, \overline{\gamma} \in (O_F/\mathfrak{f})^{\times}$. We denote by $\operatorname{Cl}_F^+(\mathfrak{f}) \coloneqq \mathfrak{I}_f/P_{\mathfrak{f}}^+$ the strict ray class group modulo \mathfrak{f} of *F*, where $\mathfrak{I}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ is the group of fractional ideals of *F* prime to \mathfrak{f} and $P_{\mathfrak{f}}^+ \coloneqq \{(\alpha) \mid \alpha \in F_+, \alpha \equiv 1 \mod^{\times} \mathfrak{f}\}$. A finite Hecke character of *F* of conductor \mathfrak{f} is a character

$$\chi \colon \mathrm{Cl}_F^+(\mathfrak{f}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}.$$

Then the Hecke L-function of the field F associated to χ is

$$L(\chi, s) := \sum_{\mathfrak{a} \subset O_F} \chi(\mathfrak{a}) N(\mathfrak{a})^{-s}$$

where $\chi(\mathfrak{a}) = 0$ if $\mathfrak{a} \notin \mathfrak{I}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and the sum is over all integral ideals of O_F . For $\mathfrak{f} = (1)$ and χ trivial, this reduces to the *Dedekind zeta function* of *F*

$$L(\chi, s) = \zeta_F(s) = \sum_{\mathfrak{a} \subset O_F} N(\mathfrak{a})^{-s}$$

These functions can be analytically continued to the whole complex plane, except for a simple pole at s = 1 in the case of the Dedekind zeta function (see [13, Chapter VII §8 Corollary 8.6] or [10, §2.7 Theorem 2] for a proof using Shintani zeta functions).

We now briefly introduce some groups from algebraic number theory and show that $\operatorname{Cl}_F^+(\mathfrak{f})$ is finite. For the field *F*, its *narrow class group* is defined to be \mathfrak{I}/P^+ , where \mathfrak{I} is the group of fractional ideals and P^+ the subgroup of totally positive principal fractional ideals. Let \mathfrak{I}/P be the class group of *F*, which is clearly a subgroup of \mathfrak{I}/P^+ , whose orders are called class number and narrow class number, respectively. For a fractional ideal \mathfrak{f} , it is easy to show that there is an ideal prime to \mathfrak{f} in every class of \mathfrak{I}/P , so $\mathfrak{I}/P \cong \mathfrak{I}_{\mathfrak{f}}/P(\mathfrak{f})$, where $P(\mathfrak{f})$ denotes the subgroup of $\mathfrak{I}_{\mathfrak{f}}$ of principal ideals. We then obtain the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow P(\mathfrak{f})/P^+(\mathfrak{f}) \longrightarrow \mathfrak{I}_{\mathfrak{f}}/P^+(\mathfrak{f}) \longrightarrow \mathfrak{I}_{\mathfrak{f}}/P(\mathfrak{f}) \longrightarrow 0$$

where we note that $P(\mathfrak{f})/P^+(\mathfrak{f})$ has order dividing 2^g . Since the class group is finite, we conclude that the narrow class group is also finite, with order equal to the class number times a power of 2. Now, we may obtain the following exact sequence for the strict ray class group:

$$0 \longrightarrow P^{+}(\mathfrak{f})/P_{\mathfrak{f}}^{+} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{I}_{\mathfrak{f}}/P_{\mathfrak{f}}^{+} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{I}_{\mathfrak{f}}/P^{+}(\mathfrak{f}) \longrightarrow 0.$$
(1.9)

Since we have showed above that the narrow class number is finite, we may restrict our attention to the kernel $P^+(\mathfrak{f})/P_{\mathfrak{f}}^+$. Since every ideal $\mathfrak{a} \in P^+(\mathfrak{f})$ is determined by an element $\alpha \in F_+^{\times}$ up to multiplication by Δ , and $\mathfrak{a} \in P_{\mathfrak{f}}^+$ precisely when $\alpha \equiv 1 \mod^{\times} \mathfrak{f}$, we have an identification $P^+(\mathfrak{f})/P_{\mathfrak{f}}^+ \cong (O_F/\mathfrak{f})^{\times}/\Delta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ where $\Delta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ denotes $\Delta \mod^{\times} \mathfrak{f}$. From this it is clear that $\operatorname{Cl}_F^+(\mathfrak{f})$ is finite and that there exists a unique character $\chi_{\operatorname{fin}} \colon (O_F/\mathfrak{f})^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ associated to χ such that $\chi((\alpha)) = \chi_{\operatorname{fin}}(\alpha)$ for any $\alpha \in O_{F+}$ prime to \mathfrak{f} . In particular, we have $\chi_{\text{fin}}(\varepsilon) = 1$ for any $\varepsilon \in \Delta$. Extending by zero, we regard χ_{fin} as functions on O_F/\mathfrak{f} and O_F with values in \mathbb{C} .

In what follows, we let $\mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}] := \text{Hom}(O_F/\mathfrak{f}, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$ be the set of \mathfrak{f} -torsion points of $\mathbb{T}(\mathbb{C})$. We say that a character χ , χ_{fin} or $\xi \in \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}]$ is *primitive*, if it does not factor respectively through $\text{Cl}_F^+(\mathfrak{f}')$, $(O_F/\mathfrak{f}')^{\times}$ or O_F/\mathfrak{f}' for any integral ideal $\mathfrak{f}' \neq \mathfrak{f}$ such that $\mathfrak{f}'|\mathfrak{f}$. Then we have the following finite Fourier transform.

Lemma 1.3.3. *For any* $\xi \in \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}]$ *, let*

$$c_{\chi}(\xi) \coloneqq rac{1}{N(\mathfrak{f})} \sum_{eta \in O_F/\mathfrak{f}} \chi_{\mathrm{fin}}(eta) \xi(-eta).$$

Then we have

$$\chi_{\text{fin}}(\alpha) = \sum_{\xi \in \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}]} c_{\chi}(\xi) \xi(\alpha).$$

Moreover, if χ_{fin} is primitive, then we have $c_{\chi}(\xi) = 0$ for any non-primitive ξ .

Proof. The first statement follows from

$$\sum_{\xi \in \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}]} c_{\chi}(\xi)\xi(\alpha) = \frac{1}{N(\mathfrak{f})} \sum_{\beta \in O_F/\mathfrak{f}} \chi_{\mathrm{fin}}(\beta) \left(\sum_{\xi \in \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}]} \xi(\alpha - \beta)\right) = \chi_{\mathrm{fin}}(\alpha),$$

where the last equality follows from the fact that $\sum_{\xi \in \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}]} \xi(\alpha) = N(\mathfrak{f})$ if $\alpha \equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{f}}$ and $\sum_{\xi \in \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}]} \xi(\alpha) = 0$ if $\alpha \not\equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{f}}$, since this is the sum of all *n*-th roots of unity, for some *n* dividing $N(\mathfrak{f})$. Next, suppose χ_{fin} is primitive, and let $\mathfrak{f}' \neq \mathfrak{f}$ be an integral ideal of *F* such that $\mathfrak{f}'|\mathfrak{f}$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}']$. Since χ_{fin} is primitive, it does not factor through O_F/\mathfrak{f}' , hence there exists an element $\gamma \in O_F$ prime to \mathfrak{f} such that $\gamma \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{f}'}$ and $\chi_{\text{fin}}(\gamma) \neq 1$. Then since $\xi \in \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}']$, we have $\xi(\gamma \alpha) = \xi(\alpha)$ for any $\alpha \in O_F$. This gives

$$\begin{split} c_{\chi}(\xi) &= \frac{1}{N(\mathfrak{f})} \sum_{\beta \in O_{F}/\mathfrak{f}} \chi_{\mathrm{fin}}(\beta) \xi(-\beta) = \frac{1}{N(\mathfrak{f})} \sum_{\beta \in O_{F}/\mathfrak{f}} \chi_{\mathrm{fin}}(\beta) \xi(-\gamma\beta) \\ &= \frac{\overline{\chi}_{\mathrm{fin}}(\gamma)}{N(\mathfrak{f})} \sum_{\beta \in O_{F}/\mathfrak{f}} \chi_{\mathrm{fin}}(\gamma\beta) \xi(-\gamma\beta) = \overline{\chi}_{\mathrm{fin}}(\gamma) c_{\chi}(\xi). \end{split}$$

Since $\overline{\chi}_{fin}(\gamma) \neq 1$, we have $c_{\chi}(\xi) = 0$ as desired.

Note that since multiplication by $\varepsilon \in \Delta$ is bijective on O_F/\mathfrak{f} and since $\chi_{\text{fin}}(\varepsilon) = 1$, we have $c_{\chi}(\xi^{\varepsilon}) = c_{\chi}(\xi)$.

We now obtain the following decomposition of Hecke L-functions as Lerch zeta functions, assuming the narrow class number of F equals one.

Proposition 1.3.4. Assume that the narrow class number of F is one, and let $\chi : \operatorname{Cl}_F^+(\mathfrak{f}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a finite primitive Hecke character of F of conductor $\mathfrak{f} \neq (1)$. Then for $U[\mathfrak{f}] := \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}] \setminus \{1\}$, we have

$$L(\chi, s) = \sum_{\xi \in U[\mathfrak{f}]/\Delta} c_{\chi}(\xi) \mathcal{L}(\xi \Delta, s).$$

Proof. By definition and Lemma 1.3.3, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\xi \in \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}]/\Delta} c_{\chi}(\xi) \mathcal{L}(\xi\Delta, s) &= \sum_{\xi \in \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}]/\Delta} \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta \setminus O_{F+}} \sum_{\varepsilon \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Delta} c_{\chi}(\xi) \xi(\varepsilon\alpha) N(\alpha)^{-s} \\ &= \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta \setminus O_{F+}} \sum_{\xi \in \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}]/\Delta} \sum_{\varepsilon \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Delta} c_{\chi}(\xi^{\varepsilon}) \xi^{\varepsilon}(\alpha) N(\alpha)^{-s} \\ &= \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta \setminus O_{F+}} \sum_{\xi \in \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}]} c_{\chi}(\xi) \xi(\alpha) N(\alpha)^{-s} \\ &= \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta \setminus O_{F+}} \chi_{\mathrm{fin}}(\alpha) N(\alpha)^{-s} = \sum_{\mathfrak{a} \in O_{F}} \chi(\mathfrak{a}) N\mathfrak{a}^{-s}. \end{split}$$

The last equality follows from the fact that $\operatorname{Cl}_F^+(\mathfrak{f}) \cong (O_F/\mathfrak{f})^{\times}/\Delta_{\mathfrak{f}}$ and the assertion from the fact that $c_{\chi}(\xi) = 0$ for $\xi = 1$.

Remark 1.3.5. We assumed the condition on the narrow class number for simplicity. In section §4.1 we give a generalization for any narrow class number.

1.4 Non-canonical Decomposition: Special Case

As promised, in this section we decompose certain Hecke L-functions as a linear combination of Shintani zeta functions, thus determining their values at negative integers. It should be noted that this decomposition is non-canonical, a problem which will be addressed in the following chapters.

In [14] Shintani constructively proved what is now known as Shintani's Unit Theorem, which states that the fundamental domain of the action of a subgroup of finite index of Δ on $(F \otimes \mathbb{R})_+ \cong \mathbb{R}^I_+$ is given by a finite set of rational polyhedral cones. This implies that the Lerch zeta function $\mathcal{L}(\xi \Delta, s)$ may be expressed as a finite sum of functions $\zeta_{\sigma}(\xi, (s, ..., s))$ using a Shintani decomposition, as we will show below.

We say that a cone σ is *simplicial*, if there exists a generator of σ that is linearly independent over \mathbb{R} . Any cone generated by a subset of such a generator is called a *face* of σ . A simplicial fan Φ is a set of simplicial cones such that for any $\sigma \in \Phi$, any face of σ is also in Φ , and for any cones $\sigma, \sigma' \in \Phi$, the intersection $\sigma \cap \sigma'$ is a common face of σ and σ' .

Definition 1.4.1. A *Shintani decomposition* is a simplicial fan Φ satisfying the following properties.

- 1. $\mathbb{R}^{I}_{+} \cup \{0\} = \coprod_{\sigma \in \Phi} \sigma^{\circ}$, where σ° is the relative interior of σ , i.e., the interior of σ in the \mathbb{R} -linear span of σ .
- 2. For any $\sigma \in \Phi$ and $\varepsilon \in \Delta$, we have $\varepsilon \sigma \in \Phi$.
- 3. The quotient $\Delta \setminus \Phi$ is a finite set.

We may obtain such decomposition by slightly modifying the construction of Shintani [14, Theorem 1] (see also [10, §2.7 Theorem 1], [15, Theorem 4.1]). For any integer $q \ge 0$, we denote by Φ_{q+1} the subset of Φ consisting of cones of dimension q + 1. Note that by [15, Proposition 5.6], Φ_g satisfies

$$\mathbb{R}^{I}_{+} = \coprod_{\sigma \in \Phi_{g}} \breve{\sigma}.$$
(1.10)

Remark 1.4.2. Let *F* be a real quadratic extension of \mathbb{Q} . Then by Dirichlet's Unit Theorem (see [4, Theorem 10.7]), Δ is generated by a single fundamental unit ε , and the cone generated by $(1, \varepsilon)$ can be visualized as



where all the units in Δ are obviously contained in the line xy = 1, and the Δ action on σ clearly covers the whole positive quadrant. For this image, $F = \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{3})$ and $\varepsilon = 2 + \sqrt{3}$.

We have the following result.

Proposition 1.4.3. Let $\xi: O_F \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a character of finite order, and $\Delta_{\xi} \subset \Delta$ its isotropic subgroup. If Φ is a Shintani decomposition, then we have

$$\mathcal{L}(\xi\Delta, s) = \sum_{\sigma \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_{g}} \zeta_{\sigma}(\xi, (s, \dots, s)).$$
(1.11)

Proof. By (1.10), if *C* is a set of representatives of $\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_g$, then $\coprod_{\sigma \in C} \check{\sigma}$ is a representative of the set $\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \mathbb{R}^I_+$. Our result follows from the definition of the Lerch zeta function and (1.7).

The expression (1.11) is non-canonical, since it depends on the choice of the Shintani decomposition. In fact, in the decomposition of the Hecke L-function given by combining (1.11) with 1.3.4, this is the only step which is non-canonical. The goal of the following chapters is to introduce tools from algebraic geometry in order to obtain the negative integer values of the Lerch zeta function canonically.

We conclude that we can obtain the Hecke L-function as a linear combination of geometric Shintani zeta functions in the Proposition below.

Proposition 1.4.4. Assume that the narrow class number of F is one, and let $\chi : \operatorname{Cl}_F^+(\mathfrak{f}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a finite primitive Hecke character of F of conductor $\mathfrak{f} \neq (1)$. Then, for $U[\mathfrak{f}] := \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}] \setminus \{1\}$ and Φ a Shintani decomposition, we have

$$L(\chi, s) = \sum_{\xi \in U[\mathfrak{f}]/\Delta} c_{\chi}(\xi) \sum_{\sigma \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_g} \zeta_{\sigma}(\xi, (s, \dots, s)).$$

This gives the Hecke L-function as a linear combination of geometric Shintani zeta functions.

Proof. After combining (1.11) with 1.3.4, we only need to show that $\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_g$ is finite. It follows from Shintani's Unit Theorem, or equivalently from property (3) of the definition 1.4.1 of a Shintani decomposition given above, that $\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_g$ is finite when Δ_{ξ} is a subgroup of finite index of Δ , which was proven in Lemma 1.3.1.

Before we end this chapter, we finish with a few remarks regarding the negative integer values of Hecke L-functions associated to finite Hecke characters. First, we note that our hypothesis of the field F being totally real is not restrictive, since if the number field K is not totally real, then $L(\chi, -k) = 0$ for all $0 \le k \in \mathbb{Z}$, except for the case when χ is the trivial character, for which $L(\chi, 0) \ne 0$. This result follows from the functional equation that the Hecke L-functions satisfy. The decomposition of the Hecke L-function given above assumes $\mathfrak{f} \ne (1)$ and χ non-trivial, therefore it does not include the Dedekind zeta functions. Despite that, it is possible to give a decomposition of Hecke L-functions which includes the case of the Dedekind zeta, as well as to deduce its values at negative integers. For a totally real field F, the values $\zeta_F(-k)$ are all in \mathbb{Q} and are given by associated generalized Bernoulli polynomials. They are equal to zero if 0 < k is even, and non-zero if k is odd. Note that this includes the case of $F = \mathbb{Q}$, that is, the Riemann zeta. All of these claims are proven in [13, Chapter VII §9].

Chapter Two

Equivariant Cohomology

2.1 Equivariant Cohomology of the Algebraic Torus

Let *F* be a number field of degree *g* as before. In order to study the characters of the ring of integers O_F more systematically and to use the tools from algebraic geometry, we need to define them in a more general context, namely as points of group schemes to be defined below.

Definition 2.1.1. Let *S* be a scheme. A group scheme over *S* is a pair (G, m) where *G* is a *S*-scheme and $m : G \times_S G \to G$ is a morphism of *S*-schemes such that, for all schemes *T* over *S*, (G(T), m) is a group.

We begin by introducing the *multiplicative group scheme* \mathbb{G}_m , which represents the functor that associates a ring *R* to its multiplicative group R^* , that is, the *R*-valued points of \mathbb{G}_m are $\mathbb{G}_m(R) = R^*$. First, we claim that $\mathbb{G}_m = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[t, t^{-1}] = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[x, y]/(xy - 1)$. Indeed

$$\mathbb{G}_m(R) = \operatorname{Hom}_{Sch}(\operatorname{Spec} R, \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[t, t^{-1}]) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{Rings}(\mathbb{Z}[t, t^{-1}], R) \cong R^*$$

where the last isomorphism is given by observing that ring homomorphisms from $\mathbb{Z}[t, t^{-1}]$ to *R* are uniquely given by assigning *t* to an invertible element of *R*. The multiplication in \mathbb{G}_m is given by

$$\mathbb{G}_m \times \mathbb{G}_m \longrightarrow \mathbb{G}_m$$
$$\mathbb{Z}[t, t^{-1}] \otimes \mathbb{Z}[t, t^{-1}] \longleftrightarrow \mathbb{Z}[t, t^{-1}]$$
$$t \otimes t \longleftrightarrow t.$$

A group scheme of central importance to this work associated to O_F is the *algebraic torus* $\mathbb{T}^{O_F} = \mathbb{T} = \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O_F, \mathbb{G}_m)$ as an abelian group, which represents the functor that associates a commutative ring *R* to the group $\mathbb{T}(R) = \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O_F, R^{\times})$ of \mathbb{Z} -module homomorphisms. In fact, as a group,

$$\mathbb{T} = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O_F, \mathbb{G}_m) \cong \mathbb{G}_m^g \cong \mathbb{G}_m \otimes \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O_F, \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{G}_m \otimes O_F^{\vee}.$$

We still need to describe \mathbb{T} as a scheme, but first we shall define morphisms of group schemes:

Definition 2.1.2. A *morphism of group schemes* $\psi : (G, m), \to (G', m')$ over *S* is a morphism of schemes over *S* such that for every scheme *T* over *S* the induced map $\psi : G(T) \to G'(T)$ is a group homomorphism.

For any ring R and any $\alpha \in O_F$, the natural morphism $\mathbb{T}(R) \to \mathbb{G}_m(R)$ defined by mapping $\xi \in \mathbb{T}(R) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O_F, R^{\times})$ to $\xi(\alpha) \in \mathbb{G}_m(R) = R^{\times}$ induces a morphism of group schemes $t^{\alpha} \colon \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{G}_m$ by Yoneda's Lemma, which gives a rational function of \mathbb{T} . Then we have

$$\mathbb{T} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[t^{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in O_F],$$

where $t^{\alpha}, t^{\alpha'}$ satisfies the relation $t^{\alpha}t^{\alpha'} = t^{\alpha+\alpha'}$ for any $\alpha, \alpha' \in O_F$. If we take a basis $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g$ of O_F as a \mathbb{Z} -module, then we have

Spec
$$\mathbb{Z}[t^{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in O_F] = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[t^{\pm \alpha_1}, \dots, t^{\pm \alpha_g}] \cong \mathbb{G}_m^g$$

which is consistent with the previous group isomorphism $\mathbb{T} \cong \mathbb{G}_m^g$. One is also tempted to use the characterization $\mathbb{T} \cong \mathbb{G}_m \otimes O_F^{\vee}$ to produce a right action of Δ on \mathbb{T} , but in order to make this precise, we need first the following definition:

Definition 2.1.3. Let *G* be a group with identity *e*. A *G*-scheme is a scheme *X* equipped with a right action of *G*. We denote by $[u]: X \to X$ the action of $u \in G$, so that $[uv] = [v] \circ [u]$ for any $u, v \in G$ holds.

As hinted above, the action of Δ on O_F by multiplication induces an action of Δ on \mathbb{T} . Explicitly:

$$[\varepsilon] \colon \mathbb{T} \longrightarrow \mathbb{T}$$
$$\mathbb{Z}[t^{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in O_F] \longleftarrow \mathbb{Z}[t^{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in O_F] \colon [\varepsilon]_{\sharp}$$
$$t^{\varepsilon \alpha} \longleftarrow t^{\alpha}.$$

We are now ready to define equivariant sheaves. Assume *X* is a *G*-scheme from now on:

Definition 2.1.4. A *G*-equivariant structure on an \mathcal{O}_X -module \mathcal{F} is a family of isomorphisms

$$\iota_u\colon [u]^*\mathscr{F}\xrightarrow{\cong}\mathscr{F}$$

for $u \in G$, such that $\iota_e = id_{\mathscr{F}}$ and the diagram

$$[uv]^* \mathscr{F} \xrightarrow{\iota_{uv}} \mathscr{F}$$

$$\| \qquad \qquad \uparrow^{\iota_u} \qquad \qquad \uparrow^{\iota_u} \\ [u]^* [v]^* \mathscr{F} \xrightarrow{[u]^* \iota_v} [u]^* \mathscr{F}$$

is commutative. We call \mathcal{F} equipped with a G-equivariant structure a G-equivariant sheaf.

Remark 2.1.5. Note that the bottom part of the diagram consists of the pullback functor $[u]^*$ applied to $\iota_v \colon [v]^* \mathscr{F} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathscr{F}$. The pullback is necessary in the definition since *G* is acting simultaneously on the $\mathscr{O}_X(U)$ -module $\mathscr{F}(U)$ and on the underlying ring $\mathscr{O}_X(U)$ for each *U* open of *X*.

For any *G*-equivariant sheaf \mathscr{F} on *X*, we define the equivariant global section by $\Gamma(X/G, \mathscr{F}) := \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z}, \Gamma(X, \mathscr{F})) = \Gamma(X, \mathscr{F})^G$. Then the equivariant cohomology $H^m(X/G, -)$ is defined to be the *m*-th right derived functor of $\Gamma(X/G, -)$.

Note that the structure sheaf \mathcal{O}_X is naturally a *G*-equivariant sheaf. We will introduce below a Δ -equivariant sheaf consisting of the structure sheaf of $\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}$ with a twist, where $\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}$ denotes the base

change of \mathbb{T} to the Galois closure \overline{F} of F with respect to \mathbb{Q} , which is fixed, and we also denote by $I = \text{Hom}(F, \overline{F})$ the set of embeddings.

Definition 2.1.6. For any $\mathbf{k} = (k_{\tau}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{I}$, we define a Δ -equivariant sheaf $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}(\mathbf{k})$ on $\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}$ as follows. As an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}$ -module we let $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}(\mathbf{k}) := \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}$. The Δ -equivariant structure

$$\iota_{\varepsilon} \colon [\varepsilon]^* \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}$$

is given by multiplication by $\varepsilon^{-k} \coloneqq \prod_{\tau \in I} (\varepsilon^{\tau})^{-k_{\tau}}$ for any $\varepsilon \in \Delta$. Note that for $k, k' \in \mathbb{Z}^{I}$, we have $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}(k) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}(k') = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}(k+k')$. For the case $k = (k, \ldots, k)$, we have $\varepsilon^{-k} = N(\varepsilon)^{-k} = 1$ for any $\varepsilon \in \Delta$, hence $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}(k) = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}$.

Lemma 2.1.7. $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}(k)$ is a Δ -equivariant sheaf.

Proof. First, remember that since $\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}$ is affine, there is an equivalence of categories between the category of quasi-coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}$ -modules \mathscr{F} and the category of *R*-modules for $R := \bar{F}[t^{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in O_F]$, given by the *R*-module of global sections $\mathscr{F}(\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}})$.

Through this equivalence, $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\vec{F}}}$ corresponds to R and $[\varepsilon]^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\vec{F}}}$ corresponds to $R \otimes_{[\varepsilon]_{\sharp}R} R$ where $\otimes : R \times R \to R \otimes_{[\varepsilon]_{\sharp}R} R$ is given by the map $[\varepsilon]_{\sharp}$ on the left and the identity on the right. This is viewed as an R-module through multiplication on the second component. Note that we may identify $R \cong R \otimes_{[\varepsilon]_{\sharp}R} R$ by sending $r \mapsto r \otimes 1$.

This way the map $\iota_{\varepsilon} \colon [\varepsilon]^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}$ becomes $R \otimes_{[\varepsilon]_{\sharp}R} R \to R$, where $r \otimes 1 \mapsto \varepsilon^{-k}r$, on *R*-modules. Now that the Δ -equivariant structure is explicit, for $\varepsilon, \delta \in \Delta$ as in Definition 2.1.4, the diagram becomes



and an element $r \otimes 1 \otimes 1$ of $R \otimes_{[\varepsilon]_{\sharp}R} R \otimes_{[\delta]_{\sharp}R} R$ is sent to $(\varepsilon \delta)^{-k} r \in R$.

The open subscheme $U := \mathbb{T} \setminus \{1\}$ also carries the Δ -scheme structure from \mathbb{T} . We will now construct the *equivariant Čech complex*, which may be used to express the cohomology of U with coefficients in a Δ -equivariant quasi-coherent \mathcal{O}_U -module \mathscr{F} . For any $\alpha \in \mathcal{O}_F$, we let $U_{\alpha} := \mathbb{T} \setminus \{t^{\alpha} = 1\}$. If we let $B := \mathbb{Z}[t^{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \mathcal{O}_{F+}]$, then $\Gamma(U_{\alpha}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}}) = B_{\alpha} = B[\frac{1}{1-t^{\alpha}}]$. Then any $\varepsilon \in \Delta$ induces an isomorphism $[\varepsilon] : U_{\varepsilon\alpha} \to U_{\alpha}$.

We say that $\alpha \in O_{F+}$ is *primitive* if $\alpha/N \notin O_{F+}$ for any integer N > 1.

Lemma 2.1.8. Let $A \subset O_{F+}$ be the set of primitive elements of O_{F+} . Then

- *1.* $\varepsilon A = A$ for any $\varepsilon \in \Delta$.
- 2. The set $\mathfrak{U} := \{U_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ gives an affine open covering of U.

Proof. (1) fix $\varepsilon \in \Delta$. We will show that $\varepsilon A \subset A$. For $\alpha \in O_F$, let $\varepsilon \alpha = N\beta$, for $1 < N \in \mathbb{N}$, $\beta \in O_F$. Then $\alpha/N = \varepsilon^{-1}\beta \in O_F$, and the claim follows from the contrapositive. The other inclusion follows from $\varepsilon^{-1}A \subset A$.

$$(2) \cup_{\alpha \in A} U_{\alpha} = \mathbb{T} \setminus \cap_{\alpha \in A} \{ t^{\alpha} = 1 \} = \mathbb{T} \setminus \cap_{\alpha \in O_F} \{ t^{\alpha} = 1 \} = \mathbb{T} \setminus \{ 1 \} = U.$$

We note that for any simplicial cone σ of dimension *m*, there exists a generator $\underline{\alpha} \in A^m$, unique up to permutation of the components.

Let q be an integer ≥ 0 . For any $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_0, \dots, \alpha_q) \in A^{q+1}$, we let $U_{\underline{\alpha}} \coloneqq U_{\alpha_0} \cap \dots \cap U_{\alpha_q}$, and we denote by $j_{\underline{\alpha}} \colon U_{\underline{\alpha}} \hookrightarrow U$ the inclusion. The sheaf $j_{\underline{\alpha}*}j_{\underline{\alpha}}^* \mathcal{F}$ simply consists of the sheaf \mathcal{F} restricted to $U_{\underline{\alpha}}$ and then defined on U again, that is, $j_{\underline{\alpha}*}j_{\alpha}^* \mathcal{F}(V) = \mathcal{F}(V \cap U_{\underline{\alpha}})$ for all V open of U. We let

$$\mathscr{C}^{q}(\mathfrak{U},\mathscr{F}) \coloneqq \prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A^{q+1}}^{\mathrm{alt}} j_{\underline{\alpha}*} j_{\underline{\alpha}}^{*} \mathscr{F}$$

be the subsheaf of $\prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A^{q+1}} j_{\underline{\alpha}*} j_{\underline{\alpha}}^* \mathscr{F}$ consisting of sections $s = (s_{\underline{\alpha}})$ such that $s_{\rho(\underline{\alpha})} = \operatorname{sgn}(\rho) s_{\underline{\alpha}}$ for any $\rho \in \mathfrak{S}_{q+1}$ and $s_{\underline{\alpha}} = 0$ if $\alpha_i = \alpha_j$ for some $i \neq j$. We define the differential $d^q : \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}) \to$ $\mathscr{C}^{q+1}(\mathfrak{U},\mathscr{F})$ to be the usual alternating sum

$$(d^{q}f)_{\alpha_{0}\cdots\alpha_{q+1}} \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^{q+1} (-1)^{j} f_{\alpha_{0}\cdots\check{\alpha}_{j}\cdots\alpha_{q+1}} \Big|_{U_{(\alpha_{0},\dots,\alpha_{q+1})}\cap V}$$
(2.1)

for any section $(f_{\underline{\alpha}})$ of $\mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F})$ of each open set $V \subset U$. If we let $\mathscr{F} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{C}^0(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F})$ be the natural inclusion, then we have the following exact sequence:

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathscr{F} \longrightarrow \mathscr{C}^{0}(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{d^{0}} \mathscr{C}^{1}(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{d^{1}} \cdots \xrightarrow{d^{q-1}} \mathscr{C}^{q}(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{d^{q}} \cdots$$

where exactness follows from the permutation property in the definition of the subsheaf $\mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U},\mathscr{F})$.

We next consider the action of Δ . For any $\underline{\alpha} \in A^{q+1}$ and $\varepsilon \in \Delta$, we have a commutative diagram

$$U_{\varepsilon \underline{\alpha}} \xrightarrow{j_{\varepsilon \underline{\alpha}}} U$$

$$[\varepsilon] \downarrow \cong [\varepsilon] \downarrow \cong U,$$

$$(2.2)$$

where $\varepsilon \underline{\alpha} := (\varepsilon \alpha_0, \dots, \varepsilon \alpha_q)$. Then we have isomorphisms

$$[\varepsilon]^* j_{\underline{\alpha}*} j_{\underline{\alpha}}^* \mathscr{F} \cong j_{\varepsilon \underline{\alpha}*} j_{\varepsilon \underline{\alpha}}^* [\varepsilon]^* \mathscr{F} \xrightarrow{\cong} j_{\varepsilon \underline{\alpha}*} j_{\varepsilon \underline{\alpha}}^* \mathscr{F}, \qquad (2.3)$$

where the last isomorphism is induced by the Δ -equivariant structure $\iota_{\varepsilon} \colon [\varepsilon]^* \mathscr{F} \cong \mathscr{F}$. Since the pullback $[\varepsilon]^*$ commutes with products for $[\varepsilon]$ an isomorphism, this induces an isomorphism $\iota_{\varepsilon} \colon [\varepsilon]^* \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F})$. We now claim that this isomorphism is compatible with the differential (2.1):

Lemma 2.1.9. $\mathscr{C}^{\bullet}(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F})$ is a complex of Δ -equivariant sheaves on U.

Proof. We need to show that the following diagram commutes:

$$0 \longrightarrow [\varepsilon]^* \mathscr{F} \longrightarrow [\varepsilon]^* \mathscr{C}^0(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{[\varepsilon]^* d^0} [\varepsilon]^* \mathscr{C}^1(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{[\varepsilon]^* d^1} \cdots \xrightarrow{[\varepsilon]^* d^{q-1}} [\varepsilon]^* \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{[\varepsilon]^* d^q} \cdots \xrightarrow{[\iota_{\varepsilon}]^* d^q} [\varepsilon]^* \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{[\varepsilon]^* d^q} \cdots \xrightarrow{[\varepsilon]^* d^q} \cdots \xrightarrow{[\varepsilon]^* d^q} [\varepsilon]^* \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{[\varepsilon]^* d^q} \cdots \xrightarrow{[\varepsilon]^* d^q} \cdots \xrightarrow{[\varepsilon]^* d^q} [\varepsilon]^* \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{[\varepsilon]^* d^q} \cdots \xrightarrow{[\varepsilon]^* d^q}$$

By fixing an open *V* of *U* and $q \in \mathbb{N}$ we restrict ourselves to a single square diagram of modules, which after applying the first isomorphism of (2.3) becomes:

$$\begin{split} \prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A^{q+1}}^{\mathrm{alt}} j_{\varepsilon\underline{\alpha}*} j_{\varepsilon\underline{\alpha}}^{*} [\varepsilon]^{*} \mathscr{F}(V) &\xrightarrow{[\varepsilon]^{*}d^{q}} \prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A^{q+2}}^{\mathrm{alt}} j_{\varepsilon\underline{\alpha}*} j_{\varepsilon\underline{\alpha}}^{*} [\varepsilon]^{*} \mathscr{F}(V) \\ & \downarrow^{\iota_{\varepsilon}} & \downarrow^{\iota_{\varepsilon}} \\ & \prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A^{q+1}}^{\mathrm{alt}} j_{\varepsilon\underline{\alpha}*} j_{\varepsilon\underline{\alpha}}^{*} \mathcal{F}(V) \xrightarrow{d^{q}} \prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A^{q+2}}^{\mathrm{alt}} j_{\varepsilon\underline{\alpha}*} j_{\varepsilon\underline{\alpha}}^{*} \mathcal{F}(V) \end{split}$$

Now let $f \in \mathscr{F}(V)$, and $[\varepsilon]^*(f) \in [\varepsilon]^*\mathscr{F}(V)$. Then by defining \tilde{f} as the image of $[\varepsilon]^*(f)$ under $\iota_{\varepsilon} \colon [\varepsilon]^*\mathscr{F} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathscr{F}$, the previous diagram becomes element wise

which is clearly commutative. It's clear that the previous diagram commutes with the restriction maps of each sheaf, therefore we are done. \Box

Proposition 2.1.10. The sheaf $\mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F})$ is acyclic with respect to the functor $\Gamma(U/\Delta, -)$.

Proof. By definition, the functor $\Gamma(U/\Delta, -)$ is the composite of the left-exact functors $\Gamma(U, -)$ and $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[\Delta]}(\mathbb{Z}, -)$. Following [7, Théorème 5.2.1] we have a spectral sequence converging in the following manner

$$E_2^{a,b} = H^a(\Delta, H^b(U, \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}))) \Longrightarrow H^{a+b}(U/\Delta, \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F})).$$

We now prove that $H^b(U, \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F})) = 0$ if $b \neq 0$. Notice that

$$\mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U},\mathscr{F})\cong\prod_{\alpha_0<\cdots$$

after fixing a total order on the set $A \subset \mathbb{R}$. Indeed, for any $\underline{\alpha} \in A^{q+1}$, if $\alpha_i = \alpha_j$ for $i \neq j$, then $(s)_{\underline{\alpha}} = 0$ for $(s) \in \prod_{\underline{\alpha} \in A^{q+1}}^{\text{alt}} j_{\underline{\alpha}*} j_{\underline{\alpha}}^* \mathcal{F}$. Otherwise, we may re-arrange the coordinates of $\underline{\alpha}$ such that $\rho(\underline{\alpha}) = \underline{\tilde{\alpha}} = (\tilde{\alpha}_0, \dots, \tilde{\alpha}_q)$ satisfies $\tilde{\alpha}_0 < \dots < \tilde{\alpha}_q$. Then $(s_{\underline{\alpha}}) = (\text{sgn}(\rho)s_{\underline{\tilde{\alpha}}})$, so

$(s_{\underline{\tilde{\alpha}}})$ determines $(s_{\underline{\alpha}})$.

We know that the pullback of a quasi-coherent sheaf is quasi-coherent, so $j_{\underline{\alpha}}^* \mathscr{F}$ is a quasi-coherent sheaf of $U_{\underline{\alpha}}$, which is an affine scheme, and therefore $H^b(U_{\underline{\alpha}}, j_{\underline{\alpha}}^* \mathscr{F}) = 0$ for b > 0. We know that the product of quasi-coherent sheaves on an affine scheme is quasi-coherent, therefore we also have $H^b(U_{\underline{\alpha}}, \prod_{\alpha_0 < \dots < \alpha_q} j_{\underline{\alpha}}^* \mathscr{F}) = 0$ for b > 0. Now, since $j_{\underline{\alpha}}$ is the inclusion of an affine scheme into U, it is an affine morphism, so we may use Lemma 2.1.11 below to deduce that $H^b(U_{\underline{\alpha}}, \prod_{\alpha_0 < \dots < \alpha_q} j_{\underline{\alpha}}^* \mathscr{F}) = H^b(U, j_{\underline{\alpha}^*} \prod_{\alpha_0 < \dots < \alpha_q} j_{\underline{\alpha}}^* \mathscr{F}) = 0$ if b > 0. Lastly, since the pushforward is a right adjoint, it commutes with products, and so the claim follows.

It is now sufficient to prove that $H^a(\Delta, H^0(U, \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}))) = 0$ for any integer $a \neq 0$, where

$$H^0(U, \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F})) = \prod_{\underline{\alpha} \in A^{q+1}}^{\text{alt}} \Gamma(U, j_{\underline{\alpha}*} j_{\underline{\alpha}}^* \mathscr{F}) \cong \prod_{\alpha_0 < \dots < \alpha_q} \Gamma(U_{\underline{\alpha}}, \mathscr{F}).$$

Assume that the total order is preserved by the action of Δ , that is, $\varepsilon \alpha > \varepsilon \beta \Leftrightarrow \alpha > \beta$ (for example, we may take the order on \mathbb{R} through an embedding $\tau : A \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ for some $\tau \in I$). Let *B* be the subset of A^{q+1} consisting of elements $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_q)$ such that $\alpha_0 < \cdots < \alpha_q$. Since the action of Δ on *B* is free, we denote by B_0 a subset of *B* representing the set $\Delta \setminus B$, so that any $\underline{\alpha} \in B$ may be written uniquely as $\underline{\alpha} = \varepsilon \underline{\alpha}_0$ for some $\varepsilon \in \Delta$ and $\underline{\alpha}_0 \in B_0$. We let

$$M\coloneqq \prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in B_0} \Gamma(U_{\underline{\alpha}},\mathcal{F}),$$

and we let $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{Z}[\Delta], M)$ be the coinduced module of M, with the action of Δ given for any $\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{Z}[\Delta], M)$ by $\varepsilon \varphi(u) = \varphi(u\varepsilon)$ for any $u \in \mathbb{Z}[\Delta]$ and $\varepsilon \in \Delta$. Then we have a $\mathbb{Z}[\Delta]$ -linear isomorphism

$$H^{0}(U, \mathscr{C}^{q}(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F})) \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{Z}[\Delta], M)$$
(2.4)

given by mapping any $(s_{\underline{\alpha}}) \in H^0(U, \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}))$ to the \mathbb{Z} -linear homomorphism

$$\varphi_{(\underline{s}_{\underline{\alpha}})}(\delta) \coloneqq \left(\iota_{\delta}([\delta]^* \underline{s}_{\delta^{-1}\underline{\alpha}_0})\right) \in M$$

for any $\delta \in \Delta$. The compatibility of (2.4) with the action of Δ is seen as follows. By definition, the action of $\varepsilon \in \Delta$ on $(s_{\underline{\alpha}}) \in H^0(U, \mathscr{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}))$ is given by $\varepsilon((s_{\underline{\alpha}})) = (\iota_{\varepsilon}([\varepsilon]^* s_{\varepsilon^{-1}\underline{\alpha}}))$. Hence noting that

$$\iota_{\delta} \circ [\delta]^* \iota_{\varepsilon} = \iota_{\delta \varepsilon} \colon \Gamma(U_{\underline{\alpha}}, [\delta \varepsilon]^* \mathscr{F}) \to \Gamma(U_{\underline{\alpha}}, \mathscr{F})$$

and $[\delta]^* \circ \iota_{\varepsilon} = [\delta]^* \iota_{\varepsilon} \circ [\delta]^* \colon \Gamma(U_{\underline{\alpha}}, [\varepsilon]^* \mathscr{F}) \to \Gamma(U_{\underline{\alpha}}, [\delta]^* \mathscr{F})$ for any $\delta \in \Delta$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi_{\varepsilon(\underline{s}_{\underline{\alpha}})}(\delta) &= \left(\iota_{\delta} \left([\delta]^* (\iota_{\varepsilon}([\varepsilon]^* s_{\varepsilon^{-1}\delta^{-1}\underline{\alpha}_0})) \right) \right) = \left((\iota_{\delta} \circ [\delta]^* \iota_{\varepsilon}) \left([\delta\varepsilon]^* s_{\varepsilon^{-1}\delta^{-1}\underline{\alpha}_0} \right) \right) \\ &= \left(\iota_{\delta\varepsilon} ([\delta\varepsilon]^* s_{\varepsilon^{-1}\delta^{-1}\underline{\alpha}_0}) \right) = \varphi_{(\underline{s}_{\underline{\alpha}})}(\delta\varepsilon) \end{aligned}$$

as desired. The fact that (2.4) is an isomorphism follows from the fact that B_0 is a representative of $\Delta \setminus B$. By (2.4) and Shapiro's Lemma (see [5, Proposition 1.6.4]), we have $H^a(\Delta, H^0(U, \mathcal{C}^q(\mathfrak{U}, \mathcal{F}))) \cong$ $H^a(\{1\}, M) = 0$ for $a \neq 0$ as desired.

The following Lemma was used in the proof of Proposition 2.1.10 above.

Lemma 2.1.11. Let $f : X \to Y$ be an affine morphism of schemes, and \mathcal{F} a quasi-coherent sheaf on X. Then for any integer $m \ge 0$, we have a natural isomorphism

$$H^m(X,\mathscr{F})\cong H^m(Y,f_*\mathscr{F}).$$

Proof. See [6, Chapitre III corollaire 1.3.3].

Proposition 2.1.10 gives the following Corollary.

Corollary 2.1.12. We let $C^{\bullet}(\mathfrak{U}/\Delta, \mathscr{F}) \coloneqq \Gamma(U/\Delta, \mathscr{C}^{\bullet}(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{F}))$. Then for any integer $m \ge 0$, the equivariant cohomology $H^m(U/\Delta, \mathscr{F})$ is given as

$$H^m(U/\Delta,\mathscr{F}) = H^m(C^{\bullet}(\mathfrak{U}/\Delta,\mathscr{F})).$$

By definition, for any integer $q \in \mathbb{Z}$, we have

$$C^{q}(\mathfrak{U}/\Delta,\mathscr{F}) = \left(\prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A^{q+1}}^{\mathrm{alt}}\Gamma(U_{\underline{\alpha}},\mathscr{F})\right)^{\Delta}.$$

2.2 Shintani Generating Class

In this section, we will use the description of equivariant cohomology of Corollary 2.1.12 to define the Shintani generating class as a class in $H^{g-1}(U/\Delta, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}})$. We will then consider the action of the differential operators ∂_{τ} on this class. We first interpret the generating functions $\mathscr{G}_{\sigma}(z)$ of Definition 1.2.4 as rational functions on \mathbb{T} .

Proposition 2.2.1. Let $\mathfrak{D}^{-1} \coloneqq \{u \in F \mid \operatorname{Tr}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(uO_F) \subset \mathbb{Z}\}$ be the inverse different of F. Then there exists an isomorphism

$$(F \otimes \mathbb{C})/\mathfrak{D}^{-1} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathbb{T}(\mathbb{C}) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O_F, \mathbb{C}^{\times}), \qquad z \mapsto \xi_z$$

$$(2.5)$$

given by mapping any $z \in F \otimes \mathbb{C}$ to the character $\xi_z(\alpha) := e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha z)}$ in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O_F, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$.

Proof. We know that the trace pairing is perfect, that is, we have an isomorphism $F \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Q}}(F, \mathbb{Q})$, sending $\alpha \mapsto (\beta \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha\beta))$. Therefore we also have the isomorphisms $F \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O_F, \mathbb{Q})$ and $F \otimes \mathbb{C} \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O_F, \mathbb{C})$, which sends $z \mapsto (\alpha \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha z))$, where $\operatorname{Tr}_{F \otimes \mathbb{C}/\mathbb{C}} \colon F \otimes \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ comes from the fact that $\mathbb{C} \hookrightarrow F \otimes \mathbb{C}$ is a finite locally free morphism of rings.

Now, by composing each $\operatorname{Tr}((-)z) \colon O_F \to \mathbb{C}$ with $e^{2\pi i(-)} \colon \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$, we have a surjection $F \otimes \mathbb{C} \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O_F, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$, whose kernel is precisely the preimage of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(O_F, \mathbb{Z})$, which is \mathfrak{D}^{-1} by definition.

The function t^{α} on $\mathbb{T}(\mathbb{C})$ corresponds through the isomorphism (2.5) to the function $e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha z)}$ for any $\alpha \in O_F$. Thus the following holds.

Corollary 2.2.2. For $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_g) \in A^g$ and $\sigma := \sigma_{\alpha}$, consider the rational function

$$\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}(t) \coloneqq \frac{\sum_{\alpha \in \check{P}_{\underline{\alpha}} \cap \mathcal{O}_F} t^{\alpha}}{(1 - t^{\alpha_1}) \cdots (1 - t^{\alpha_g})}$$

on \mathbb{T} , where $P_{\underline{\alpha}}$ is again the parallelepiped spanned by $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g$. Then $\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}(t)$ corresponds to the function $\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}(z)$ of Definition 1.2.4 through the uniformization (2.5). Note that by definition, if we

let $B \coloneqq \mathbb{Z}[t^{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in O_{F+}]$ *, then we have*

$$\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}(t) \in B_{\underline{\alpha}} \coloneqq B\Big[\frac{1}{1-t^{\alpha_1}}, \dots, \frac{1}{1-t^{\alpha_g}}\Big].$$
(2.6)

Again, we fix an ordering $I = \{\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_g\}$. For any $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g) \in O_{F+}^g$, let $(\alpha_i^{\tau_j})$ be the same $g \times g$ matrix as in the proof of 1.2.3, whose (i, j)-component is $\alpha_i^{\tau_j}$, and let $\operatorname{sgn}(\underline{\alpha}) \in \{0, \pm 1\}$ be the signature of $\operatorname{det}(\alpha_i^{\tau_j})$.

We define the *Shintani generating class* G as follows.

Proposition 2.2.3. *For any* $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g) \in A^g$ *, we let*

$$\mathcal{G}_{\underline{\alpha}} \coloneqq \operatorname{sgn}(\underline{\alpha}) \mathcal{G}_{\sigma_{\alpha}}(t) \in \Gamma(U_{\underline{\alpha}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}}).$$

Then we have $(\mathcal{G}_{\underline{\alpha}}) \in C^{g-1}(\mathfrak{U}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}})$. Moreover, $(\mathcal{G}_{\underline{\alpha}})$ satisfies the cocycle condition $d^{g-1}(\mathcal{G}_{\underline{\alpha}}) = 0$, hence defines a class

$$\mathcal{G} \coloneqq [\mathcal{G}_{\alpha}] \in H^{g-1}(U/\Delta, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}}).$$

We call this class the Shintani generating class.

Proof. By construction, $(\mathcal{G}_{\underline{\alpha}})$ defines an element in $\Gamma(U, \mathscr{C}^{g-1}(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{T}})) = \prod_{\underline{\alpha} \in A^g}^{\text{alt}} \Gamma(U_{\underline{\alpha}}, \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{T}})$, since a permutation ρ of $\underline{\alpha}$ still generates the same cone, and $\operatorname{sgn}(\rho(\underline{\alpha})) = \operatorname{sgn}(\rho)\operatorname{sgn}(\underline{\alpha})$. Since $[\varepsilon]^*\mathcal{G}_{\underline{\alpha}} = \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon\underline{\alpha}}$ for any $\varepsilon \in \Delta$, we have

$$(\mathcal{G}_{\underline{\alpha}}) \in \Gamma(U, \mathscr{C}^{g-1}(\mathfrak{U}, \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{T}}))^{\Delta} = C^{g-1}(\mathfrak{U}/\Delta, \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{T}})$$

To prove the cocycle condition $d^{g-1}(\mathcal{G}_{\underline{\alpha}}) = 0$, it is sufficient to check that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{g} (-1)^{j} \mathcal{G}_{(\alpha_0,...,\check{\alpha}_j,...\alpha_g)} = 0$$
(2.7)

for any $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_g \in A$. Now, after remembering that $\sigma_{\underline{\alpha}} = P_{\underline{\alpha}} \bigoplus_{i=1}^g \alpha_i \mathbb{N}$ and rewriting

$$\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}(t) \coloneqq \frac{\sum_{\alpha \in \check{P}_{\underline{\alpha}} \cap O_{F}} t^{\alpha}}{(1 - t^{\alpha_{1}}) \cdots (1 - t^{\alpha_{g}})} = \sum_{\alpha \in \check{P}_{\underline{\alpha}} \cap O_{F}} t^{\alpha} \sum_{n_{1} \in \mathbb{N}} t^{\alpha_{1}n_{1}} \cdots \sum_{n_{g} \in \mathbb{N}} t^{\alpha_{g}n_{g}},$$

it becomes clear that the rational function $\mathcal{G}_{\sigma_{\underline{\alpha}}}(t)$ maps to the formal power series

$$\mathcal{G}_{\sigma_{\underline{\alpha}}}(t)\mapsto \sum_{\alpha\in\check{\sigma}_{\underline{\alpha}}\cap O_F}t^{lpha}$$

by taking the formal completion $B_{\underline{\alpha}} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{Z}[[t^{\alpha_1}, \dots, t^{\alpha_g}]]$, where $B_{\underline{\alpha}}$ is the ring defined in (2.6). Since the map taking the formal completion is injective, it is sufficient to check (2.7) for the associated formal power series. By [15, Proposition 6.2], we have

$$\sum_{j=0}^{g} (-1)^{j} \operatorname{sgn}(\alpha_{0}, \dots, \check{\alpha}_{j}, \dots, \alpha_{g}) \mathbf{1}_{\check{\sigma}(\alpha_{0}, \dots, \check{\alpha}_{j}, \dots, \alpha_{g})} \equiv 0$$

as a function on \mathbb{R}^{I}_{+} , where $\mathbf{1}_{R}$ is the characteristic function of $R \subset \mathbb{R}^{I}_{+}$ satisfying $\mathbf{1}_{R}(x) = 1$ if $x \in R$ and $\mathbf{1}_{R}(x) = 0$ if $x \notin R$. Then

$$\sum_{j=1}^{g} (-1)^{j} \mathcal{G}_{(\alpha_{0},\dots,\check{\alpha}_{j},\dots,\alpha_{g})} = \sum_{j=1}^{g} (-1)^{j} \operatorname{sgn}(\alpha_{0},\dots,\check{\alpha}_{j},\dots,\alpha_{g}) \sum_{\alpha\in\check{\sigma}_{(\alpha_{0},\dots,\check{\alpha}_{j},\dots,\alpha_{g})}\cap O_{F}} t^{\alpha} =$$
$$= \sum_{\alpha\in O_{F}} t^{\alpha} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{g} (-1)^{j} \operatorname{sgn}(\alpha_{0},\dots,\check{\alpha}_{j},\dots,\alpha_{g}) \mathbf{1}_{\check{\sigma}_{(\alpha_{0},\dots,\check{\alpha}_{j},\dots,\alpha_{g})}}(\alpha) \right) = 0$$
red.

as desired.

We will next define differential operators ∂_{τ} for $\tau \in I$ on equivariant cohomology. Since $t^{\alpha} = e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha z)}$ through (2.5) for any $\alpha \in O_F$, we have

$$\frac{dt^{\alpha}}{t^{\alpha}} = \sum_{\tau \in I} 2\pi i \alpha^{\tau} dz_{\tau}.$$
(2.8)

Let $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g$ be a basis of O_F . For any $\tau \in I$, we let ∂_{τ} be the differential operator

$$\partial_{\tau} \coloneqq \sum_{j=1}^{g} \alpha_{j}^{\tau} t^{\alpha_{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial t^{\alpha_{j}}}.$$

By (2.8), we see that ∂_{τ} corresponds to the differential operator $\frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{\tau}}$ through the uniformization (2.5), and hence is independent of the choice of the basis $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g$. By Theorem 1.2.6 and Corollary 2.2.2, we have the following result.

Proposition 2.2.4. Let $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g) \in A^g$ and $\sigma = \sigma_{\underline{\alpha}}$. For any $\mathbf{k} = (k_\tau) \in \mathbb{N}^I$ and $\partial^{\mathbf{k}} := \prod_{\tau \in I} \partial_{\tau}^{k_{\tau}}$, we have

$$\partial^{\mathbf{k}} \mathcal{G}_{\sigma}(\xi) = \zeta_{\sigma}(\xi, -\mathbf{k})$$

for any torsion point $\xi \in U_{\underline{\alpha}}$.

The differential operator ∂_{τ} gives a morphism of abelian sheaves

$$\partial_{\tau} \colon \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}(\boldsymbol{k}) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}(\boldsymbol{k}-1_{\tau})$$

where $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\vec{F}}}(k)$ is the Δ -equivariant sheaf from 2.1.6. We claim the following.

Lemma 2.2.5. The morphism of abelian sheaves ∂_{τ} defined above is compatible with the action of Δ for any $\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{I}$.

Proof. The claim is that the following diagram is commutative

Indeed, using the linearity of the differential operator ∂_{τ} and the explicit description of the Δ equivariant structure given in the proof of Lemma 2.1.7, this amounts to showing that

$$\varepsilon^{-k}\partial_{\tau}[\varepsilon]_{\sharp}(t^{\alpha}) = \varepsilon^{-k+1_{\tau}}[\varepsilon]_{\sharp}(\partial_{\tau}t^{\alpha}).$$

Simplifying, we need to show that

$$\partial_{\tau}[\varepsilon]_{\sharp}(t^{\alpha}) = \tau(\varepsilon)[\varepsilon]_{\sharp}(\partial_{\tau}t^{\alpha}),$$

which follows from the definitions.

This induces a homomorphism

$$\partial_{\tau} \colon H^m(U_{\bar{F}}/\Delta, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}(\boldsymbol{k})) \to H^m(U_{\bar{F}}/\Delta, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}(\boldsymbol{k}-1_{\tau}))$$

on equivariant cohomology.

Lemma 2.2.6. The operators ∂_{τ} for $\tau \in I$ are commutative with each other. Moreover, the composite

$$\partial := \prod_{\tau \in I} \partial_{\tau} : \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}(-1, \dots, -1) = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\bar{F}}}$$

is defined over \mathbb{Q} , that is, it is a base change to \overline{F} of a morphism of abelian sheaves $\partial : \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}}$. In particular, ∂ induces a homomorphism

$$\partial: H^m(U/\Delta, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}}) \to H^m(U/\Delta, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}}).$$
(2.9)

Proof. The commutativity is clear from the definition. Since the group $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{F}/\mathbb{Q})$ permutes the operators ∂_{τ} , the operator ∂ is invariant under this action. This gives our assertion.

In the following chapter, we obtain a canonical decomposition of the Hecke L-functions through the specialization of the classes

$$\partial^{k} \mathcal{G} \in H^{g-1}(U/\Delta, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}})$$
(2.10)

for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ at nontrivial torsion points of \mathbb{T} .

Chapter Three

Canonical Decomposition: Special Case

3.1 Specialization to Torsion Points

Suppose we have a group homomorphism $\pi: G \to H$. For a *G*-scheme *X* and an *H*-scheme *Y*, we say that a morphism $f: X \to Y$ of schemes is *equivariant* with respect to π , if we have $f \circ [u] = [\pi(u)] \circ f$ for any $u \in G$. Under these hypotheses, if \mathscr{F} is a *H*-equivariant sheaf on *Y*, then $f^*\mathscr{F}$ is naturally an *G*-equivariant sheaf on *X*. Indeed, the equivariant structure $\iota_u : [u]^*(f^*\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{\cong} f^*\mathscr{F}$ for any $u \in G$ is given by noting that $[u]^*(f^*\mathscr{F}) = f^*([\pi(u)]^*\mathscr{F})$ by the π -equivariance of f and $f^*\iota_{\pi(u)}: f^*([\pi(u)]^*\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{\cong} f^*\mathscr{F}$ from the covariant functor f^* applied to $\iota_{\pi(u)}: ([\pi(u)]^*\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathscr{F}$. Thus $\iota_u = f^*\iota_{\pi(u)}$. Consequently, f induces the pull-back homomorphism

$$f^* \colon H^m(Y/H, \mathscr{F}) \to H^m(X/G, f^*\mathscr{F})$$
 (3.1)

on equivariant cohomology.

For any nontrivial torsion point ξ of \mathbb{T} , let $\Delta_{\xi} \subset \Delta$ be the isotropic subgroup of ξ . Since $\mathbb{Q}(\xi)$ is the function field of $\xi \in \mathbb{T}$, we may view $\xi \coloneqq \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Q}(\xi)$ as a Δ_{ξ} -scheme with a trivial action of Δ_{ξ} . Then the natural inclusion $\xi \to U$ for $U \coloneqq \mathbb{T} \setminus \{1\}$ is equivariant with respect to the inclusion $\Delta_{\xi} \subset \Delta$, hence the pullback (3.1) induces the specialization map

$$\xi^* \colon H^m(U/\Delta, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}}) \to H^m(\xi/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}).$$
(3.2)

The purpose of this chapter is to prove the following Theorem, which provides a canonical decomposition of the Lerch zeta function for totally real fields with trivial narrow class group.

Theorem 3.1.1. Let F be a totally real number field of degree g with trivial narrow class group, let ξ be a nontrivial torsion point of $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{T}^{O_F}$, and let k be an integer ≥ 0 . If we let \mathcal{G} be the Shintani generating class defined in Proposition 2.2.3, and if we let $\partial^k \mathcal{G}(\xi) \in H^{g-1}(\xi/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi})$ be the image by the specialization map ξ^* of the class $\partial^k \mathcal{G}$ defined in (2.10), then we have

$$\partial^k \mathcal{G}(\xi) = \mathcal{L}(\xi \Delta, -k)$$

through the canonical isomorphism $H^{g-1}(\xi/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}) \cong \mathbb{Q}(\xi)$ given in Proposition 3.2.5 below.

We will prove Theorem 3.1.1 at the end of this chapter. The specialization map can be expressed explicitly in terms of cocycles as follows. We let $V_{\alpha} := U_{\alpha} \cap \xi$ for any $\alpha \in A$. Then $\mathfrak{B} := \{V_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ is an affine open covering of ξ . For any integer $q \ge 0$ and $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_q) \in A^{q+1}$, we let $V_{\underline{\alpha}} := V_{\alpha_0} \cap \cdots \cap V_{\alpha_q}$ and

$$C^{q}(\mathfrak{B}/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}) \coloneqq \left(\prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A^{q+1}}^{\text{alt}} \Gamma(V_{\underline{\alpha}}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi})\right)^{\Delta_{\xi}}.$$
(3.3)

Here, note that $\Gamma(V_{\underline{\alpha}}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}) = \mathbb{Q}(\xi)$ if $V_{\underline{\alpha}} \neq \emptyset$ and $\Gamma(V_{\underline{\alpha}}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}) = \{0\}$ otherwise. The same argument as that of Corollary 2.1.12 shows that we have

$$H^{m}(\xi/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathscr{O}_{\xi}) \cong H^{m}(C^{\bullet}(\mathfrak{B}/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathscr{O}_{\xi})).$$
(3.4)

3.2 Canonical Identification through Group (Co)Homology

In this section, we will use tools from group (co)homology and duality arguments to obtain the canonical isomorphism $H^{g-1}(\xi/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}) \cong \mathbb{Q}(\xi)$, concluding with the proof of Theorem 3.1.1.

We let A_{ξ} be the subset of elements $\alpha \in A$ satisfying $\xi \in U_{\alpha}$. This is equivalent to the condition that $\xi(\alpha) \neq 1$. We will next prove in Lemma 3.2.1 that the cochain complex $C^{\bullet}(\mathfrak{B}/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi})$ of (3.3)

is isomorphic to the dual of the chain complex $C_{\bullet}(A_{\xi})$ defined as follows. For any integer $q \ge 0$, we let

$$C_q(A_{\xi}) \coloneqq \bigoplus_{\underline{\alpha} \in A_{\xi}^{q+1}} \mathbb{Z}\underline{\alpha}$$

be the quotient of $\bigoplus_{\underline{\alpha} \in A_{\mathcal{E}}^{q+1}} \mathbb{Z}\underline{\alpha}$ by the submodule generated by

$$\{\rho(\underline{\alpha}) - \operatorname{sgn}(\rho)\underline{\alpha} \mid \underline{\alpha} \in A_{\xi}^{q+1}, \rho \in \mathfrak{S}_{q+1}\} \cup \{\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_0, \dots, \alpha_q) \mid \alpha_i = \alpha_j \text{ for some } i \neq j\}.$$

We denote by $\langle \underline{\alpha} \rangle$ the class represented by $\underline{\alpha}$ in $C_q(A_{\xi})$. We see that $C_q(A_{\xi})$ has a natural action of Δ_{ξ} and is a free $\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]$ -module. In fact, a basis of $C_q(A_{\xi})$ may be constructed in a similar way to the construction of B_0 in the proof of Proposition 2.1.10. Then $C_{\bullet}(A_{\xi})$ is a complex of $\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]$ -modules with respect to the standard differential operator $d_q: C_q(A_{\xi}) \to C_{q-1}(A_{\xi})$ given by

$$d_q(\langle \alpha_0, \dots, \alpha_q \rangle) \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^q (-1)^j \langle \alpha_0, \dots, \check{\alpha}_j, \dots, \alpha_q \rangle$$

for any $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_0, \dots, \alpha_q) \in A_{\xi}^{q+1}$. If we view \mathbb{Z} as a $\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]$ -module with trivial Δ_{ξ} -action and let $d_0: C_0(A_{\xi}) \to \mathbb{Z}$ be the unique \mathbb{Z} -linear homomorphism defined by $d_0(\langle \alpha \rangle) = 1$ for any $\alpha \in A_{\xi}$, then $C_{\bullet}(A_{\xi})$ is a free resolution of \mathbb{Z} as a $\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]$ -module. As announced previously, the following is true.

Lemma 3.2.1. There exists a natural isomorphism of complexes

$$C^{\bullet}(\mathfrak{B}/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Hom}_{\Delta_{\xi}}(C_{\bullet}(A_{\xi}), \mathbb{Q}(\xi)).$$

Proof. Firstly, we note that the differential d^q of the cochain complex $\operatorname{Hom}_{\Delta_{\xi}}(C_{\bullet}(A_{\xi}), \mathbb{Q}(\xi))$ is defined by

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]}(C_q(A_{\xi}), \mathbb{Q}(\xi)) \xrightarrow{d^{q+1}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]}(C_{q+1}(A_{\xi}), \mathbb{Q}(\xi))$$

$$f \longmapsto f \circ d_{q+1}$$

where d_{q+1} is the differential of $C_{\bullet}(A_{\xi})$. We also note that from the equality $\prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A^{q+1}} \Gamma(V_{\underline{\alpha}}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}) = \prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A^{q+1}_{\xi}} \mathbb{Q}(\xi)$ we have

$$C^{q}(\mathfrak{B}/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}) = \left(\prod_{\underline{\alpha} \in A^{q+1}}^{\text{alt}} \Gamma(V_{\underline{\alpha}}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi})\right)^{\Delta_{\xi}} = \left(\prod_{\alpha_{0} < \ldots < \alpha_{q}} \mathbb{Q}(\xi)\right)^{\Delta_{\xi}}.$$
$$\underbrace{\alpha \in A^{q+1}_{\xi}}_{\underline{\alpha} \in A^{q+1}_{\xi}} \mathbb{Q}(\xi)$$

For the rest of this proof, we assume $\alpha \in A_{\xi}$. In order to prove the claim, we need to show that the following generic square is commutative for each $q \in \mathbb{N}$

with the vertical arrows being natural isomorphisms. We first remember the universal property of the direct sum, which states that for each morphism $f_{\underline{\alpha}} : \mathbb{Z}_{\underline{\alpha}} \to \mathbb{Q}_{\xi}$, there exists a unique $f : \bigoplus_{\alpha_0 < \ldots < \alpha_q} \mathbb{Z}_{\underline{\alpha}} \to \mathbb{Q}_{\xi}$ such that $f_{\underline{\alpha}} = f \circ j_{\underline{\alpha}}$, where $j_{\underline{\alpha}} : \mathbb{Z}_{\underline{\alpha}} \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{\alpha_0 < \ldots < \alpha_q} \mathbb{Z}_{\underline{\alpha}}$ is the natural inclusion. With this notation fixed, we get the following canonical isomorphisms

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]}\left(\bigoplus_{\alpha_{0}<\ldots<\alpha_{q}}\mathbb{Z}_{\underline{\alpha}},\mathbb{Q}(\xi)\right) \xrightarrow{\cong} \prod_{\alpha_{0}<\ldots<\alpha_{q}}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]}(\mathbb{Z}_{\underline{\alpha}},\mathbb{Q}_{\xi}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \left(\prod_{\alpha_{0}<\ldots<\alpha_{q}}\mathbb{Q}_{\xi}\right)^{\Delta_{\xi}}$$

$$f \longmapsto \prod_{\alpha_0 < \dots < \alpha_q} f_{\underline{\alpha}} \longmapsto \prod_{\alpha_0 < \dots < \alpha_q} f_{\underline{\alpha}} (\underline{\alpha})$$

which correspond to the vertical arrows of the previous diagram. Now, to check compatibility with the differentials, we write it element wise

and see that it is clearly commutative, so we're done.

We will next use a Shintani decomposition (see Definition 1.4.1) to construct a complex which is quasi-isomorphic to the complex $C_{\bullet}(A_{\xi})$.

Lemma 3.2.2. Let ξ be as above. There exists a Shintani decomposition Φ such that each $\sigma \in \Phi$ is of the form $\sigma = \sigma_{\underline{\alpha}}$ for some $\underline{\alpha} \in A_{\xi}^{q+1}$.

Proof. Let Φ be a Shintani decomposition. We will deform Φ to construct a Shintani decomposition satisfying our assertion. By the definition of a simplicial fan, for any $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_q) \in A^{q+1}$ such that $\sigma_{\underline{\alpha}} \in \Phi_{q+1}$, the face $\sigma_{\alpha_i} \in \Phi_1$ for each $0 \le i \le q$. Therefore we may restrict our attention to Φ_1 . Let Λ be a finite subset of A such that $\{\sigma_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Lambda\}$ represents the quotient set $\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_1$. We can assume the finiteness of Λ following the same reasoning as in the proof of Proposition 1.4.4. If $\xi(\alpha) \ne 1$ for any $\alpha \in \Lambda$, then Φ satisfies our assertion since $\alpha \in A_{\xi}$ if and only if $\xi(\alpha) \ne 1$.

Suppose that there exists $\alpha \in \Lambda$ such that $\xi(\alpha) = 1$. Since ξ is a nontrivial character on O_F , there exists $\beta \in O_{F+}$ such that $\xi(\beta) \neq 1$. Then for any integer N, we have $\xi(N\alpha + \beta) = \xi(\alpha)^N \xi(\beta) \neq 1$. Let Φ' be the set of cones obtained by deforming $\sigma = \sigma_\alpha$ to $\sigma' \coloneqq \sigma_{N\alpha+\beta}$ and $\varepsilon\sigma$ to $\varepsilon\sigma'$ for any $\varepsilon \in \Delta_{\xi}$. By taking N sufficiently large, the amount of deformation can be made arbitrarily small so that Φ' remains a fan. Indeed, we only need to check that the higher dimension cones $\sigma'_{\underline{\alpha}} \in \Phi_{q+1}$ remain simplicial, that is, that $\underline{\alpha}$ is still linearly independent after changing α to $N\alpha + \beta$. This can be achieved by taking N sufficiently big for $\sigma'_{\underline{\alpha}}$. The finiteness of Λ guarantees that there is a finite number N large enough so that all $\sigma'_{\underline{\alpha}} \in \Phi_{q+1}$ remain simplicial. By repeating this process for any $\alpha \in \Lambda$ such that $\xi(\alpha) = 1$, we obtain a Shintani decomposition satisfying the desired condition. \Box

In what follows, we fix a Shintani decomposition Φ satisfying the condition of Lemma 3.2.2. Let $N \colon \mathbb{R}^I_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be the norm map defined by $N((a_\tau)) \coloneqq \prod_{\tau \in I} a_\tau$, and we let

$$\mathbb{R}_1^I \coloneqq \{(a_\tau) \in \mathbb{R}_+^I \mid N((a_\tau)) = 1\}$$

be the subset of \mathbb{R}^{I}_{+} of norm one. Note that $\Delta \subset \mathbb{R}^{I}_{1}$ through the natural inclusion $\Delta \subset \mathbb{R}^{I}_{+}$. We also let

$$L: \mathbb{R}^I_+ \to \mathbb{R}^g$$

be the homeomorphism defined by $(x_{\tau}) \mapsto (\log x_{\tau_i})$. If we define $W := \{(y_{\tau_i}) \in \mathbb{R}^g \mid \sum_{i=1}^g y_{\tau_i} = 0\}$, then W is an \mathbb{R} -linear subspace of \mathbb{R}^g of dimension g - 1, and L gives a homeomorphism $\mathbb{R}_1^I \cong W \cong \mathbb{R}^{g-1}$. Therefore \mathbb{R}_1^I is a real manifold homeomorphic to \mathbb{R}^{g-1} and for any $\sigma \in \Phi_{q+1}$ the intersection $\sigma \cap \mathbb{R}_1^I$ is a subset of \mathbb{R}_1^I which is homeomorphic to a simplex of dimension q. Recall that by Definition 1.4.1, Φ is a simplicial fan, therefore the set $\{\sigma \cap \mathbb{R}_1^I \mid \sigma \in \Phi\}$ gives a simplicial decomposition of the topological space \mathbb{R}_1^I that is compatible with the action of Δ_{ξ} .

Remark 3.2.3. If g = 3, the cone generated by the pink, green and red lines in the figure below intersects the *norm one surface* \mathbb{R}^3_1 , colored in gray, giving rise to the blue simplex:



In what follows, for any $\sigma \in \Phi_{q+1}$, we denote by $\langle \sigma \rangle$ the class $\operatorname{sgn}(\underline{\alpha}) \langle \underline{\alpha} \rangle$ in $C_q(A_{\xi})$, where $\underline{\alpha} \in A_{\xi}^{q+1}$ is a generator of σ . This is well-defined since a generator $\underline{\alpha}$ is uniquely determined up to permutation from σ . We then have the following.

Lemma 3.2.4. For any integer $q \ge 0$, we let $C_q(\Phi)$ be the $\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]$ -submodule of $C_q(A_{\xi})$ generated by $\langle \sigma \rangle$ for all $\sigma \in \Phi_{q+1}$. Then $C_{\bullet}(\Phi)$ is a subcomplex of $C_{\bullet}(A_{\xi})$ which also gives a free resolution of \mathbb{Z} as a $\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]$ -module. In particular, the natural inclusion induces a quasi-isomorphism of complexes

$$C_{\bullet}(\Phi) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{qis}} C_{\bullet}(A_{\xi})$$

compatible with the action of Δ_{ξ} *.*

Proof. Note that $C_q(\Phi)$ for any integer $q \ge 0$ is a free $\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]$ -module generated by representatives of the quotient $\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_{q+1}$. By construction, $C_{\bullet}(\Phi)$ can be identified with the chain complex associated to the simplicial decomposition $\{\sigma \cap \mathbb{R}_1^I \mid \sigma \in \Phi\}$ of the topological space \mathbb{R}_1^I . Since $\mathbb{R}_1^I \cong \mathbb{R}^{g-1}$ is contractible, the chain complex associated to the simplicial decomposition is exact, so we see that the complex $C_{\bullet}(\Phi)$ is exact and gives a free resolution of \mathbb{Z} as a $\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]$ -module. Since any two free resolutions of \mathbb{Z} as a $\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]$ -module are quasi-isomorphic, the claim follows from the fact that $C_{\bullet}(A_{\xi})$ also gives a free resolution of \mathbb{Z} as a $\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]$ -module.

Since *F* is totally real, the Dirichlet Unit Theorem (see [4, Theorem 10.7]) shows that the discrete subset $L(\Delta) \subset W$ is a free \mathbb{Z} -module of rank g - 1, and so is $L(\Delta_{\xi})$, since Δ_{ξ} is a subgroup of finite index of Δ by 1.3.1. Hence we have

$$\mathcal{T}_{\xi} \coloneqq \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \mathbb{R}_1^I \cong \mathbb{R}^{g-1} / \mathbb{Z}^{g-1}.$$

We consider the coinvariant

$$C_q(\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi) \coloneqq C_q(\Phi)_{\Delta_{\xi}}$$

of $C_q(\Phi)$ with respect to the action of Δ_{ξ} , that is, the \mathbb{Z} -module obtained by quotienting $C_q(\Phi)$ by the subgroup generated by $\langle \sigma \rangle - \langle \varepsilon \sigma \rangle$ for $\sigma \in \Phi_{q+1}$ and $\varepsilon \in \Delta_{\xi}$. For any $\sigma \in \Phi_{q+1}$, we denote by $\overline{\sigma}$ the image of σ in the quotient $\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_{q+1}$, and we denote by $\langle \overline{\sigma} \rangle$ the image of $\langle \sigma \rangle$ in $C_q(\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi)$, which depends only on the class $\overline{\sigma} \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_{q+1}$. Now, for each such $\overline{\sigma} \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_{q+1}$, we associate the set $\Delta_{\xi} \setminus (\Delta_{\xi} \sigma \cap \mathbb{R}_1^I)$, which gives a q-dimensional simplex of the (g - 1)-dimensional torus \mathcal{T}_{ξ} . Doing so for every $q \ge 0$, or equivalently for each $\overline{\sigma} \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi$, we obtain a simplicial decomposition of \mathcal{T}_{ξ} and $C_{\bullet}(\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi)$ may be identified with the associated chain complex. Hence we have

$$H_m(C_{\bullet}(\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi)) = H_m(\mathcal{T}_{\xi}, \mathbb{Z}), \qquad H^m\Big(\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}\big(C_{\bullet}(\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi), \mathbb{Z}\big)\Big) = H^m(\mathcal{T}_{\xi}, \mathbb{Z}),$$

where $H_m(\mathcal{T}_{\xi}, \mathbb{Z})$ (respectively $H^m(\mathcal{T}_{\xi}, \mathbb{Z})$) denotes the integral *m*-th (co)homology group of the (g-1)-dimensional torus \mathcal{T}_{ξ} , and therefore is a free abelian group of rank $\binom{g-1}{m}$. Therefore, Kronecker duality implies that the dual pairing

$$H^{m}(\mathcal{T}_{\xi},\mathbb{Z}) \times H_{m}(\mathcal{T}_{\xi},\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{Z}$$
(3.5)

is perfect (see for example [12, Theorem 45.8]). Consequently, the bilinear pairing

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(C_m(\Delta_{\xi} \backslash \Phi), \mathbb{Z}) \times C_m(\Delta_{\xi} \backslash \Phi) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathbb{Z}$$

$$(3.6)$$

 $(\varphi, u) \longmapsto \varphi(u)$

is also perfect.

We also note that the generator of the homology group

$$H_{g-1}(C_{\bullet}(\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi)) = H_{g-1}(\mathcal{T}_{\xi}, \mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$$

is given by the fundamental class

$$\sum_{\overline{\sigma} \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_{g}} \langle \overline{\sigma} \rangle \in C_{g-1}(\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi).$$
(3.7)

Now, since $\mathbb{Q}(\xi)$ is a field, the Universal Coefficient Theorem (see [12, Theorem 53.5]) together with the Kronecker pairing (3.6) gives us the following canonical isomorphism

$$H^{g-1}\Big(\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}\big(C_{\bullet}(\Delta_{\xi} \backslash \Phi), \mathbb{Q}(\xi)\big)\Big) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathbb{Q}(\xi)$$

$$(3.8)$$

$$\varphi \longmapsto \sum_{\overline{\sigma} \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_{g}} \varphi(\langle \overline{\sigma} \rangle),$$

induced by the fundamental class (3.7).

Proposition 3.2.5. Let $\eta \in H^{g-1}(\xi/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi})$ be represented by a cocycle

$$(\eta_{\underline{\alpha}}) \in C^{g-1}(\mathfrak{B}/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}) = \left(\prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A_{\xi}^{g}}^{\mathrm{alt}} \mathbb{Q}(\xi)\right)^{\Delta_{\xi}}.$$

For any cone $\sigma \in \Phi_g$, let $\eta_{\sigma} \coloneqq \operatorname{sgn}(\underline{\alpha})\eta_{\underline{\alpha}}$ for any $\underline{\alpha} \in A^g_{\underline{\xi}}$ such that $\sigma_{\underline{\alpha}} = \sigma$. Then the homomorphism mapping the cocycle $(\eta_{\underline{\alpha}})$ to $\sum_{\overline{\sigma} \in \Delta_{\underline{\xi}} \setminus \Phi_g} \eta_{\sigma}$ induces a canonical isomorphism

$$H^{g-1}(\xi/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}) \cong \mathbb{Q}(\xi).$$
(3.9)

Proof. Since $C_q(\Phi)$ and $C_q(A_{\xi})$ are free $\mathbb{Z}[\Delta_{\xi}]$ -modules, the quasi-isomorphism $C_{\bullet}(\Phi) \xrightarrow{qis} C_{\bullet}(A_{\xi})$ of Lemma 3.2.4 induces the quasi-isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\Delta_{\xi}}\left(C_{\bullet}(A_{\xi}),\mathbb{Q}(\xi)\right) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{qis}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\Delta_{\xi}}\left(C_{\bullet}(\Phi),\mathbb{Q}(\xi)\right).$$

Combining this fact with Lemma 3.2.1 and (3.4), we see that

$$H^{g-1}(\xi/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}) \cong H^{g-1}(\operatorname{Hom}_{\Delta_{\xi}}(C_{\bullet}(\Phi), \mathbb{Q}(\xi))).$$

Since we have $\operatorname{Hom}_{\Delta_{\xi}}(C_{\bullet}(\Phi), \mathbb{Q}(\xi)) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(C_{\bullet}(\Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi), \mathbb{Q}(\xi))$, our assertion follows from (3.8).

We will now prove Theorem 3.1.1.

Proof of Theorem 3.1.1. By construction and Lemma 2.2.6, the class $\partial^k \mathcal{G}(\xi)$ is a class defined over $\mathbb{Q}(\xi)$ represented by the cocycle $(\partial^k \mathcal{G}_{\underline{\alpha}}(\xi)) \in C^{g-1}(\mathfrak{B}/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi})$. By Proposition 3.2.5 and Proposition 2.2.4, the class $\partial^k \mathcal{G}(\xi)$ maps through (3.9) to

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_{g}} \partial^{k} \mathcal{G}_{\sigma}(\xi) = \sum_{\sigma \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_{g}} \zeta_{\sigma}(\xi, (-k, \dots, -k)).$$

Our assertion now follows from (1.11).

Corollary 3.2.6. Assume that the narrow class number of F is one, and let $\chi : \operatorname{Cl}_F^+(\mathfrak{f}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a finite primitive Hecke character of F of conductor $\mathfrak{f} \neq (1)$. If we let $U[\mathfrak{f}] := \mathbb{T}[\mathfrak{f}] \setminus \{1\}$, then we have

$$L(\chi, -k) = \sum_{\xi \in U[\mathfrak{f}]/\Delta} c_{\chi}(\xi) \partial^{k} \mathcal{G}(\xi)$$

for any integer $k \ge 0$.

Proof. The result follows from Theorem 3.1.1 and Proposition 1.4.4.

Chapter Four

Canonical Decomposition: General Case

In this chapter, we generalize the construction of the Shintani Generating Class given in 2.2.3 to obtain a canonical decomposition of the Hecke L-function at negative integers when the narrow class number of the totally real field is not necessarily one.

4.1 Non-canonical Decomposition: General Case

In this section, we first give a generalization of the Lerch zeta function of *F*. We then introduce the set \mathcal{T}_{tors} as a natural parameter space for these generalized Lerch zeta functions, and express the *L*-function associated to a Hecke character of *F* canonically in terms of the Lerch zeta functions.

For any fractional ideal \mathfrak{a} of *F*, we let $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ be the algebraic torus

$$\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}} \coloneqq \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{a}, \mathbb{G}_m)$$

defined over \mathbb{Z} . As before, $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ is given as the affine scheme $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[t^{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \mathfrak{a}]$, where t^{α} are parameters satisfying $t^{\alpha}t^{\alpha'} = t^{\alpha+\alpha'}$ for any $\alpha, \alpha' \in \mathfrak{a}$. The natural left action of Δ on \mathfrak{a} induces a right action of Δ on $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$. The action of $\varepsilon \in \Delta$, denoted by $\langle \varepsilon \rangle \colon \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}} \to \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$, maps a character $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ to the character ξ^{ε} defined by $\xi^{\varepsilon}(\alpha) \coloneqq \xi(\varepsilon\alpha)$. In terms of the coordinate ring, the isomorphism $\langle \varepsilon \rangle \colon \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}} \to \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ is given by $t^{\alpha} \mapsto t^{\varepsilon\alpha}$ for any $\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}$.

For any torsion point $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, we define the function $\xi \Delta$ on \mathfrak{a} to be the sum over the Δ -orbit

of ξ as before

$$\xi\Delta\coloneqq \sum_{\varepsilon\in\Delta_{\xi}\backslash\Delta}\xi^{\varepsilon}.$$

We (re)define the Lerch zeta function as follows.

Definition 4.1.1. Let \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero fractional ideal of *F*, and let ξ be a torsion point of $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. We define the *Lerch zeta function* by the series

$$\mathcal{L}(\xi\Delta, s, \mathfrak{a}) \coloneqq \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta \setminus \mathfrak{a}_{+}} \xi\Delta(\alpha) N(\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\alpha)^{-s}$$
(4.1)

for $s \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$.

This is a natural generalization of the Lerch zeta function defined in (1.8). The sum converges absolutely for Re(s) > 1 and continues meromorphically to the whole complex plane, being entire if $\xi \neq 1$.

We next introduce the set \mathcal{T}_{tors} as a natural parameter space for the Lerch zeta functions. The action of Δ on $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ generalizes to isomorphisms given by elements of F_{+}^{\times} as follows. For any $x \in F_{+}^{\times}$, the multiplication by *x* gives an isomorphism $\mathfrak{a} \cong x\mathfrak{a}$ of O_F -modules, and hence induces an isomorphism of group schemes

$$\langle x \rangle \colon \mathbb{T}^{x\mathfrak{a}} \to \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}. \tag{4.2}$$

Explicitly, this isomorphism maps any character $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{x\mathfrak{a}}(R)$ to the character $\xi^x \in \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}(R)$ given by $\xi^x(\alpha) \coloneqq \xi(x\alpha)$ for $\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}$. If \mathfrak{I} denotes the group of nonzero fractional ideals of *F*, then $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}} \coloneqq \coprod_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}} \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ has a natural action of F_+^{\times} given by the isomorphism

$$\langle x \rangle \colon \widetilde{\mathbb{T}} \to \widetilde{\mathbb{T}} \tag{4.3}$$

for any $x \in F_+^{\times}$ obtained as the collection of isomorphisms $\langle x \rangle \colon \mathbb{T}^{x\mathfrak{a}} \to \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ for all $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}$.

Definition 4.1.2. We define $\mathcal{T}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ to be the quotient set

$$\mathcal{T}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) \coloneqq F_+^{\times} \backslash \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}),$$

and let $\mathscr{T}_{tors} \subset \mathscr{T}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ be the set of points in $\mathscr{T}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ represented by torsion points of $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{q}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ for all $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}$.

Note that if we fix a set of fractional ideals \mathfrak{C} of F representing the narrow ideal class group $\operatorname{Cl}_F^+(1) \coloneqq \mathfrak{I}/P^+$, then we have $\mathscr{T}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}) = \coprod_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{C}} (\Delta \setminus \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}))$. Indeed, each class of $\operatorname{Cl}_F^+(1)$ is represented by an ideal \mathfrak{a} up to multiplication by a principal ideal (x), which in turn is determined by an element $x \in F_+^{\times}$ up to multiplication by an unit in Δ . This is best shown by the following exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \Delta \longrightarrow F_{+}^{\times} \longrightarrow \Im \longrightarrow \operatorname{Cl}_{F}^{+}(1) \longrightarrow 0.$$

$$(4.4)$$

The following Lemma shows that \mathcal{T}_{tors} is the natural parameter space for the Lerch zeta functions.

Lemma 4.1.3. Let \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero fractional ideal of F and let $x \in F_+^{\times}$. Then for any torsion point $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{x\mathfrak{a}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, we have

$$\mathcal{L}(\xi\Delta, s, x\mathfrak{a}) = \mathcal{L}(\xi^{x}\Delta, s, \mathfrak{a}),$$

where ξ^x is the torsion point of $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$ corresponding to ξ through the isomorphism (4.2). In other words, the Lerch zeta function depends only on the class of ξ in \mathcal{T}_{tors} .

Proof. By definitions of the Lerch zeta functions and of ξ^x , we have

$$\mathcal{L}(\xi\Delta, s, x\mathfrak{a}) = \sum_{\beta \in \Delta \setminus x\mathfrak{a}_{+}} \xi\Delta(\beta) N(\mathfrak{a}^{-1}x^{-1}\beta)^{-s} = \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta \setminus \mathfrak{a}_{+}} \xi\Delta(x\alpha) N(\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\alpha)^{-s} = \mathcal{L}(\xi^{x}\Delta, s, \mathfrak{a})$$

as desired.

We will show in Proposition 4.1.8 that the Lerch zeta functions may be used to express the Hecke *L*-functions of finite Hecke characters of *F*. We first use some results concerning the finite Fourier transform as in 1.3.3. For a fractional ideal $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}$ and a nonzero integral ideal \mathfrak{g} , we denote by $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}] := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{g}\mathfrak{a}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times})$ the character group of the finite abelian group $\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{g}\mathfrak{a}$. We call it the group of \mathfrak{g} -torsion points of $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, since the O_F -action on \mathfrak{a} induces an O_F -module structure on $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$, and its submodule of \mathfrak{g} -torsion points is identified with $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]$ through the natural inclusion $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}] \hookrightarrow \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. Now, for a function $\phi: \mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{g}\mathfrak{a} \to \mathbb{C}$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]$, let

$$c_{\phi}(\xi) \coloneqq N\mathfrak{g}^{-1}\sum_{\beta \in \mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga}} \phi(\beta)\xi(-\beta).$$

Then by the Fourier inversion formula for functions on a/ga, analogous to 1.3.3, we have

$$\phi(\alpha) = \sum_{\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]} c_{\phi}(\xi) \xi(\alpha)$$

for any $\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga}$. Moreover, if $\phi^{\varepsilon} = \phi$ for any $\varepsilon \in \Delta$, where ϕ^{ε} is the function on $\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga}$ defined by $\phi^{\varepsilon}(\alpha) = \phi(\varepsilon \alpha)$, then we have $c_{\phi}(\xi^{\varepsilon}) = c_{\phi}(\xi)$, hence we see that

$$\phi(\alpha) = \sum_{\xi \in \Delta \setminus \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]} c_{\phi}(\xi) \xi \Delta(\alpha)$$
(4.5)

for any $\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga}$ in this case.

For $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}$, we denote by $(\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga})^{\times}$ the subset of $\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga}$ consisting of all elements which individually generate $\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga}$ as an O_F/\mathfrak{g} -module. Then we have the following description of $\operatorname{Cl}_F^+(\mathfrak{g})$.

Lemma 4.1.4. For any $a \in \mathfrak{I}$, we have a well-defined map

$$(\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga})^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathrm{Cl}_{F}^{+}(\mathfrak{g})$$

which sends a residue class of $\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}_+$ to the ray class of $\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\alpha$. Moreover, if $\mathfrak{C} \subset \mathfrak{I}$ is a set of representatives of the narrow ideal class group $\operatorname{Cl}^+_F(1)$, the above maps for $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{C}$ induce a bijection

$$\bigsqcup_{\mathfrak{a}\in\mathfrak{C}}\Delta\backslash(\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga})^{\times}\longrightarrow \mathrm{Cl}_{F}^{+}(\mathfrak{g}).$$

Proof. The first claim follows from noting that $\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}_+$ reduces to $\overline{\alpha} \in (\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga})^{\times}$ if and only if $(\alpha) + \mathfrak{ga} = \mathfrak{a}$, and then after multiplying by \mathfrak{a}^{-1} we have that $(\alpha)\mathfrak{a}^{-1} + \mathfrak{g} = O_F$, with $(\alpha)\mathfrak{a}^{-1}$ an integral ideal, so the map is well-defined. As for the bijection, we first note that $(\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga})^{\times} \cong (O_F/\mathfrak{g})^{\times}$ and therefore $\Delta \setminus (\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga})^{\times} \cong (O_F/\mathfrak{g})^{\times}/\Delta_\mathfrak{g}$. Now the fact that the map is bijective follows from the exactness of the sequence (1.9).

By composing a finite Hecke character $\chi \colon \mathrm{Cl}_F^+(\mathfrak{g}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ with the map $(\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga})^{\times} \to \mathrm{Cl}_F^+(\mathfrak{g})$ given in Lemma 4.1.4, we define a map $\chi_{\mathfrak{a}} \colon (\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga})^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ for each $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}$. Then we have the following.

Lemma 4.1.5. The map defined above is multiplicative, in the sense that

$$\chi_{\mathfrak{ab}}(\alpha\beta) = \chi_{\mathfrak{a}}(\alpha)\chi_{\mathfrak{b}}(\beta) \tag{4.6}$$

for any $\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b} \in \mathfrak{I}$ and $\alpha \in (\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga})^{\times}, \beta \in (\mathfrak{b}/\mathfrak{gb})^{\times}$.

Proof. Given α and β as above, and denoting by (α) and (β) the corresponding fractional ideals of O_F , we clearly have

$$((\alpha) + \mathfrak{ga} = \mathfrak{a}) \land ((\beta) + \mathfrak{gb} = \mathfrak{b}) \Rightarrow (\alpha\beta) + \mathfrak{gab} = \mathfrak{ab}.$$

Furthermore,

$$\chi_{\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b}}(\alpha\beta) = \chi(\overline{(\alpha\beta)\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{b}^{-1}}) = \chi(\overline{(\alpha)\mathfrak{a}^{-1}})\chi(\overline{(\beta)\mathfrak{b}^{-1}}) = \chi_{\mathfrak{a}}(\alpha)\chi_{\mathfrak{b}}(\beta).$$

By extension by *zero*, we will often regard χ as a map $\chi : \mathfrak{I} \to \mathbb{C}$, and $\chi_{\mathfrak{a}}$ as a map $\chi_{\mathfrak{a}} : \mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga} \to \mathbb{C}$. Then the above formula (4.6) holds for any $\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}$ and $\beta \in \mathfrak{b}$.

Definition 4.1.6. Let χ : $\operatorname{Cl}_{F}^{+}(\mathfrak{g}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a finite Hecke character. For any $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]$, we let

$$c_{\chi}(\xi) \coloneqq c_{\chi_{\mathfrak{a}}}(\xi).$$

Note that by definition, for any $\varepsilon \in \Delta$, we have $\chi_{\mathfrak{a}}^{\varepsilon} = \chi_{\mathfrak{a}}$, hence $c_{\chi}(\xi^{\varepsilon}) = c_{\chi}(\xi)$ for any $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]$.

Lemma 4.1.7. Let $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}$ and $x \in F_+^{\times}$. Then for any torsion point $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{x\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]$, we have

$$c_{\chi}(\xi) = c_{\chi}(\xi^{x}),$$

where ξ^x is the torsion point of $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]$ corresponding to ξ through the isomorphism (4.2). In other words, the constant $c_{\chi}(\xi)$ depends only on the class of ξ in \mathcal{T}_{tors} .

Proof. We have

$$c_{\chi}(\xi) = N\mathfrak{g}^{-1}\sum_{\beta \in x\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{g}x\mathfrak{a}} \chi_{x\mathfrak{a}}(\beta)\xi(-\beta) = N\mathfrak{g}^{-1}\sum_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{g}\mathfrak{a}} \chi_{\mathfrak{a}}(\alpha)\xi(-x\alpha) = c_{\chi}(\xi^{x})$$

as desired.

Let $\mathscr{T}[\mathfrak{g}] \coloneqq F_+^{\times} \setminus (\coprod_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}} \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}])$, which is a finite set. The Hecke *L*-function may be expressed in terms of the Lerch zeta functions as follows.

Proposition 4.1.8. Let χ : $\operatorname{Cl}^+_F(\mathfrak{g}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a finite Hecke character and let $L(\chi, s)$ be the Hecke *L*-function of χ . Then we have

$$L(\chi, s) = \sum_{\xi \in \mathcal{T}[\mathfrak{g}]} c_{\chi}(\xi) \mathcal{L}(\xi \Delta, s, \mathfrak{a}_{\xi}), \qquad (4.7)$$

where \mathfrak{a}_{ξ} is an ideal such that $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}_{\xi}}$. Note that $c_{\chi}(\xi) \mathcal{L}(\xi\Delta, s, \mathfrak{a}_{\xi})$ depends only on the class of ξ in $\mathcal{T}[\mathfrak{g}]$, so this decomposition is canonical.

Proof. In what follows, we let $\mathfrak{C} \subset \mathfrak{I}$ be a set of representatives of the group $\operatorname{Cl}_F^+(1)$. Then $\{\mathfrak{a}^{-1} \mid \mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{C}\}$ also represents the group $\operatorname{Cl}_F^+(1)$ and we have

$$L(\chi, s) \coloneqq \sum_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathcal{O}_{F}} \chi(\mathfrak{a}) N(\mathfrak{a})^{-s} = \sum_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{C}} \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta \setminus \mathfrak{a}_{+}} \chi(\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\alpha) N(\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\alpha)^{-s} = \sum_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{C}} \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta \setminus \mathfrak{a}_{+}} \chi_{\mathfrak{a}}(\alpha) N(\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\alpha)^{-s}$$
$$= \sum_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{C}} \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta \setminus \mathfrak{a}_{+}} \sum_{\xi \in \Delta \setminus \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]} c_{\chi}(\xi) \xi \Delta(\alpha) N(\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\alpha)^{-s} = \sum_{\substack{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{C} \\ \xi \in \Delta \setminus \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]}} c_{\chi}(\xi) \mathcal{L}(\xi\Delta, s, \mathfrak{a}),$$

where the second equality follows from the exactness of (4.4), the third from the definition of $\chi_{\mathfrak{a}}$, the fourth from (4.5) and the last equality from the definition of the Lerch zeta function (4.1). This proves our equality (4.7), since we have $\mathscr{T}[\mathfrak{g}] = \coprod_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{C}} (\Delta \setminus \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}])$.

When the Hecke character is primitive, we may restrict the sum in (4.7) to the subset of primitive additive characters. We denote by $\mathbb{T}_0^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]$ the set of primitive elements in $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]$, and set $\mathcal{T}_0[\mathfrak{g}] := F_+^{\times} \setminus (\coprod_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}} \mathbb{T}_0^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]).$

Proposition 4.1.9. If a finite Hecke character $\chi : \operatorname{Cl}_F^+(\mathfrak{g}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ is primitive, then $c_{\chi}(\xi) = 0$ holds for any non-primitive $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}]$. Thus we have

$$L(\chi, s) = \sum_{\xi \in \mathcal{T}_0[\mathfrak{g}]} c_{\chi}(\xi) \mathcal{L}(\xi \Delta, s, \mathfrak{a}_{\xi}).$$
(4.8)

Proof. Let $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}[\mathfrak{g}']$ for some $\mathfrak{g}' \supseteq \mathfrak{g}$. Since χ does not factor through $\mathrm{Cl}_{F}^{+}(\mathfrak{g}')$, there exists an element $\gamma \in O_{F+}$ prime to \mathfrak{g} such that $\gamma \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{g}'}$ and $\chi_{O_{F}}(\gamma) \neq 1$. Then we have $\xi(\alpha) = \xi(\gamma \alpha)$ for any $\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}$, hence

$$c_{\chi}(\xi) = N\mathfrak{g}^{-1} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga}} \chi_{\mathfrak{a}}(\alpha)\xi(-\alpha) = N\mathfrak{g}^{-1} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga}} \chi_{\mathfrak{a}}(\gamma\alpha)\xi(-\gamma\alpha)$$
$$= N\mathfrak{g}^{-1}\chi_{O_{F}}(\gamma) \sum_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{ga}} \chi_{\mathfrak{a}}(\alpha)\xi(-\alpha) = \chi_{O_{F}}(\gamma)c_{\chi}(\xi).$$

This shows that $c_{\chi}(\xi) = 0$ as desired, and the identity (4.8) follows immediately from (4.7).

Now, as in 1.2.2, we set the following definition:

Definition 4.1.10. Let \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero fractional ideal of *F*. For a finite order additive character $\phi: \mathfrak{a} \to \mathbb{C}$ and a cone σ , we define the *geometric Shintani zeta function associated to* \mathfrak{a} by

$$\zeta^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\sigma}(\phi, s) \coloneqq \sum_{\alpha \in \check{\sigma} \cap \mathfrak{a}} \phi(\alpha) \alpha^{-s}, \tag{4.9}$$

where $s = (s_{\tau}) \in \mathbb{C}^{I}$ and $\alpha^{-s} := \prod_{\tau \in I} (\alpha^{\tau})^{-s_{\tau}}$. Moreover, for a single variable $s \in \mathbb{C}$, we let

$$\zeta^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\sigma}(\phi,s) \coloneqq \zeta^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\sigma}(\phi,(s,\ldots,s)) = \sum_{\alpha \in \check{\sigma} \cap \mathfrak{a}} \phi(\alpha) N(\alpha)^{-s}.$$

Given a cone generated by $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g) \in \mathfrak{a}^g$, after setting

$$\mathscr{G}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\sigma}(t) \coloneqq \frac{\sum_{\alpha \in \check{P}_{\underline{\alpha}} \cap \mathfrak{a}} e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha t)}}{\left(1 - e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_1 t)}\right) \cdots \left(1 - e^{2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_g t)}\right)},$$

it follows mutatis mutandis from 1.2.6 that

$$\partial^{\boldsymbol{k}} \mathscr{G}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\sigma}(t) \Big|_{t=u\otimes 1} = \zeta^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\sigma}(\xi_{u}, -\boldsymbol{k}).$$

$$(4.10)$$

Furthermore, we have immediately from the definitions and 1.4.3 the following proposition.

Proposition 4.1.11. Let ξ be a torsion point of $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}})$. If Φ is a Shintani decomposition, then we have

$$\mathcal{L}(\xi\Delta, s, \mathfrak{a}) = N(\mathfrak{a})^s \sum_{\sigma \in \Delta_{\xi} \setminus \Phi_g} \zeta_{\sigma}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\xi\Delta, (s, \dots, s)).$$

4.2 Generalized Shintani Generating Class

In this section, we construct the Shintani generating class following Chapter 2, however as a class in the equivariant cohomology of $U := \coprod_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}} U^{\mathfrak{a}}$ with respect to the action of F_{+}^{\times} , where $U^{\mathfrak{a}} := \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}} \setminus \{1\}$ for any $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}$.

We now consider the scheme $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}$ of §4.1. By the action given in (4.3), the scheme $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}} := \coprod_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}} \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ is an F_+^{\times} -scheme. For any $x \in F_+^{\times}$, the isomorphism $\langle x \rangle : \widetilde{\mathbb{T}} \cong \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}$ is the collection of isomorphisms $\langle x \rangle : \mathbb{T}^{x\mathfrak{a}} \cong \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ induced from the isomorphism $\mathfrak{a} \cong x\mathfrak{a}$ given by the multiplication by x for any $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}$. The following proposition allows us to use the theory developed in Chapter 2 in our new context.

Proposition 4.2.1. Let \mathfrak{C} be a set of fractional ideals of F representing the classes of $\operatorname{Cl}_{F}^{+}(1)$. Then the category of F_{+}^{\times} -equivariant sheaves on $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}$ is equivalent to the category of Δ -equivariant sheaves on $\coprod_{\mathfrak{a}\in\mathfrak{C}}\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$.

Proof. Let $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{C}$ be a representative of some narrow class. Then we denote $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}} := \coprod_{x \in \Delta \setminus F_{+}^{\times}} \mathbb{T}^{x\mathfrak{a}}$, so clearly $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}} = \coprod_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{C}} \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$. It is clear that $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ is a F_{+}^{\times} -scheme, since the F_{+}^{\times} action maintains ideals in the same narrow class by definition. We denote by $(\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}})_x$ the component $\mathbb{T}^{x\mathfrak{a}}$ in $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$. We will first show the equivalence of categories between F_{+}^{\times} -equivariant sheaves on $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ and Δ -equivariant sheaves on $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$.

Now, let $\theta : \Delta \hookrightarrow F_+^{\times}$ be the group inclusion and let $\varphi : \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}} \to \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ be the inclusion of schemes which identifies $\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ with $(\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}})_1$, and with corresponding ring homomorphisms $\varphi_{\sharp} : \widetilde{V} \to \varphi^{-1}(\widetilde{V})$ given by the restriction morphisms $\mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}}}(\widetilde{V}) \to \mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}}}\left(\widetilde{V} \cap (\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}})_1\right)$.

We claim that φ is θ -equivariant. Indeed, we need to show that $\varphi \circ [\varepsilon] = \langle \varepsilon \rangle \circ \varphi$, but this is clear from the definition of the actions and

$$\varphi \circ [\varepsilon](\mathbb{T}^{\varepsilon \mathfrak{a}}) = \varphi(\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}) = (\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}})_1 \text{ and } \langle \varepsilon \rangle \circ \varphi(\mathbb{T}^{\varepsilon \mathfrak{a}}) = \langle \varepsilon \rangle \left((\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\varepsilon \mathfrak{a}})_{\varepsilon} \right) = (\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}})_1.$$

From this, we deduce that the pullback functor φ^* sends equivariant sheaves into equivariant sheaves. To prove that this functor gives an equivalence of categories, we will construct a quasi-

inverse. First, we remark that a sheaf $\mathscr{F} \in \operatorname{Sh}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}}}$ is given by $(\mathscr{F}_{x})_{x \in \Delta \setminus F_{+}^{\times}}$, with $\mathscr{F}_{x} \in \operatorname{Sh}_{(\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}})_{x}}$. Then $(\mathscr{F}_{x})_{x}$ is F_{+}^{\times} -equivariant if and only if $\langle y \rangle^{*} \mathscr{F}_{x} \cong \mathscr{F}_{xy}$ for all $y \in F_{+}^{\times}$.

We may now construct the functor ψ which associates to $\widehat{\mathscr{F}} \in \Delta$ -Sh_{T^a} the sheaf $\mathscr{F} \in Sh_{\widetilde{T}^a}$ given by $(\mathscr{F}_x)_{x \in \Delta \setminus F_+^{\times}}$ where $\mathscr{F}_x = \langle x \rangle^* \varphi_* \widehat{\mathscr{F}}$. Since $\langle x \rangle^* \mathscr{F} \cong \mathscr{F}$ for any $x \in F_+^{\times}$, the sheaf \mathscr{F} is F_+^{\times} equivariant. Therefore we have a functor $\psi : \Delta$ -Sh_{T^a} $\to F_+^{\times}$ -Sh_{T̃} sending equivariant sheaves to equivariant sheaves.

We now claim that ψ is a quasi-inverse to φ^* . Indeed, given $\mathscr{F} = (\mathscr{F}_x)_x \in F_+^{\times} - Sh_{\widetilde{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}}$, we have

$$((\psi \circ \varphi^*)(\mathscr{F}))_x = (\psi(\varphi^*\mathscr{F}))_x = \langle x \rangle^* \varphi_* \varphi^* \mathscr{F}_1 \cong \langle x \rangle^* \mathscr{F}_1 \cong \mathscr{F}_x,$$

where the last isomorphism is due to the equivariance of the sheaf. Therefore $\psi \circ \varphi^* \cong \text{id in}$ $F_+^{\times}-\text{Sh}_{\tilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\alpha}}$.

Conversely, given $\widehat{\mathscr{F}} \in \Delta$ -Sh_{T^a}, we have

$$(\varphi^* \circ \psi)(\widehat{\mathscr{F}}) = \varphi^* \left((\langle x \rangle^* \varphi_* \widehat{\mathscr{F}})_x \right) = \varphi^* \varphi_* \widehat{\mathscr{F}} \cong \widehat{\mathscr{F}},$$

so $\varphi^* \circ \psi \cong$ id in Δ -Sh_{T^a}, which shows that ψ is a quasi-inverse and that φ^* is an equivalence of categories.

Now, since both Δ on $\coprod_{\mathfrak{a}\in\mathfrak{C}} \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ and F_{+}^{\times} on $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}} = \coprod_{\mathfrak{a}\in\mathfrak{C}} \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ only act within a class of the narrow class group, the above equivalences of categories for each $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{C}$ naturally induce the equivalence of categories of the claim.

Next for $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}$, let $U^{\mathfrak{a}} := \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}} \setminus \{1\}$. Then any $x \in F_{+}^{\times}$ induces an isomorphism $\langle x \rangle : U^{x\mathfrak{a}} \to U^{\mathfrak{a}}$, hence $U := \coprod_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}} U^{\mathfrak{a}}$ is also an F_{+}^{\times} -scheme. We will now construct the *equivariant Čech complex*, which may be used to express the equivariant cohomology of U with coefficients in an equivariant sheaf \mathscr{F} on U.

Definition 4.2.2. For any fractional ideal \mathfrak{a} in \mathfrak{I} , we say that $\alpha \in \mathfrak{a}_+$ is *primitive*, if $\alpha/N \notin \mathfrak{a}_+$ for any integer N > 1. We let $A_\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{a}_+$ be the set of primitive elements of \mathfrak{a}_+ .

If we let $U^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\alpha} := \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}} \setminus \{t^{\alpha} = 1\}$ for any $\alpha \in A_{\mathfrak{a}}$, then $\mathfrak{U}^{\mathfrak{a}} := \{U^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A_{\mathfrak{a}}}$ gives an affine open covering of $U^{\mathfrak{a}}$ with a natural action of Δ , and $\mathfrak{U} := \{U^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\alpha}\}_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}, \alpha \in A_{\mathfrak{a}}}$ gives an affine open covering of U =

 $\coprod_{\mathfrak{a}\in\mathfrak{I}} U^{\mathfrak{a}} \text{ with a natural action on } F_{+}^{\times}. \text{ Let } q \text{ be an integer } \geq 0. \text{ For any } \underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_q) \in A_{\mathfrak{a}}^{q+1},$ we let $U_{\underline{\alpha}}^{\mathfrak{a}} \coloneqq U_{\alpha_0}^{\mathfrak{a}} \cap \cdots \cap U_{\alpha_q}^{\mathfrak{a}}.$ For an F_{+}^{\times} -equivariant sheaf \mathscr{F} on U, we write $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{a}}$ for the restriction of \mathscr{F} to $U^{\mathfrak{a}}$, and denote by

$$\prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A_{\mathfrak{a}}^{q+1}}^{\text{alt}}\Gamma(U_{\underline{\alpha}}^{\mathfrak{a}},\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{a}})$$

the subgroup of $\prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A_{\mathfrak{a}}^{q+1}} \Gamma(U_{\underline{\alpha}}^{\mathfrak{a}}, \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{a}})$ consisting of collections $s = (s_{\underline{\alpha}})$ of sections such that $s_{\rho(\underline{\alpha})} = sgn(\rho)s_{\underline{\alpha}}$ for any $\rho \in \mathfrak{S}_{q+1}$ and $s_{\underline{\alpha}} = 0$ if $\alpha_i = \alpha_j$ for some $i \neq j$.

For any $x \in F_+^{\times}$ and $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_0, \dots, \alpha_q) \in A_{\mathfrak{a}}^{q+1}$, let $x\underline{\alpha} = (x\alpha_0, \dots, x\alpha_q)$. Then $\langle x \rangle \colon U^{x\mathfrak{a}} \xrightarrow{\cong} U^{\mathfrak{a}}$ induces $U_{x\underline{\alpha}}^{x\mathfrak{a}} \xrightarrow{\cong} U_{\underline{\alpha}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$, and we have isomorphisms

$$\Gamma(U^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\underline{\alpha}},\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{a}}) \stackrel{\langle x \rangle^{*}}{\cong} \Gamma(U^{x\mathfrak{a}}_{\underline{x}\underline{\alpha}},\langle x \rangle^{*}\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{a}}) \stackrel{\iota^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\underline{x}}}{\cong} \Gamma(U^{x\mathfrak{a}}_{\underline{x}\underline{\alpha}},\mathscr{F}_{x\mathfrak{a}}),$$

which define a natural action of the group F_+^{\times} on $\prod_{\mathfrak{a}\in\mathfrak{I}}\prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in A_{\mathfrak{a}}^{g+1}}^{\operatorname{alt}}\Gamma(U_{\underline{\alpha}}^{\mathfrak{a}},\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{a}})$. Then we have the following.

Proposition 4.2.3. Let \mathcal{F} be quasi-coherent and $C^{\bullet}(\mathfrak{U}/F_{+}^{\times},\mathcal{F})$ be the complex given by

$$C^{q}(\mathfrak{U}/F_{+}^{\times},\mathscr{F}) \coloneqq \left(\prod_{\mathfrak{a}\in\mathfrak{I}}\prod_{\underline{\alpha}\in\mathfrak{A}_{\mathfrak{a}}^{q+1}}^{\mathrm{alt}}\Gamma(U_{\underline{\alpha}}^{\mathfrak{a}},\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{a}})\right)^{F_{+}^{\times}}$$

for any integer $q \ge 0$, and the differential $d^q : C^q(\mathfrak{U}/F_+^{\times}, \mathscr{F}) \to C^{q+1}(\mathfrak{U}/F_+^{\times}, \mathscr{F})$ is defined by the alternating sum

$$(d^{q}f)_{\alpha_{0}\cdots\alpha_{q+1}} \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^{q+1} (-1)^{j} f_{\alpha_{0}\cdots\check{\alpha}_{j}\cdots\alpha_{q+1}} \big|_{U(\alpha_{0},\cdots,\alpha_{q+1})}.$$
(4.11)

Then for any integer $m \ge 0$, the equivariant cohomology $H^m(U/F_+^{\times}, \mathcal{F})$ is given as

$$H^{m}(U/F_{+}^{\times},\mathscr{F}) = H^{m}(C^{\bullet}(\mathfrak{U}/F_{+}^{\times},\mathscr{F})).$$

Proof. It follows from Proposition 4.2.1 mutatis mutandis that the category of F_+^{\times} -equivariant sheaves on U is equivalent to the category of Δ -equivariant sheaves on $\coprod_{\mathfrak{a}\in\mathfrak{C}} U^{\mathfrak{a}}$, where \mathfrak{C} is a set of fractional ideals of F representing the classes of $\operatorname{Cl}_F^+(1)$. Furthermore, the pullback functor

which gives the equivalence of categories sends quasi-coherent sheaves into quasi-coherent sheaves. Therefore we have

$$C^{q}(\mathfrak{U}/F_{+}^{\times},\mathscr{F})\cong\prod_{\mathfrak{a}\in\mathfrak{C}}\left(\prod_{\underline{lpha}\in A_{\mathfrak{a}}^{q+1}}^{\mathrm{alt}}\Gamma(U_{\underline{lpha}}^{\mathfrak{a}},\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{a}})\right)^{\Delta}.$$

Our assertion now follows from 2.1.12.

We recall that if $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g$ is a \mathbb{Z} -basis of O_F , then for each ideal $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{T}$ there exist rational numbers $q_{\mathfrak{a},1}, \ldots, q_{\mathfrak{a},g} \in \mathbb{Q}$ such that $\alpha_1 q_{\mathfrak{a},1}, \ldots, \alpha_g q_{\mathfrak{a},g}$ is a \mathbb{Z} -basis of \mathfrak{a} . Therefore we have, for each $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{T}$, an isomorphism $(F \otimes \mathbb{C})/(\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{D}^{-1}) \cong \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\mathbb{C})$ analogous to (2.5).

We define the function $\mathcal{G}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\sigma}(t)$ following Corollary 2.2.2 as follows.

Definition 4.2.4. Let $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}$ and $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g) \in A^g_{\mathfrak{a}}$, and put $\sigma = \sigma_{\underline{\alpha}}$. Then we define

$$\mathcal{G}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\sigma}(t) \coloneqq \frac{\sum_{\alpha \in \check{P}_{\underline{\alpha}} \cap \mathfrak{a}} t^{\alpha}}{(1 - t^{\alpha_{1}}) \cdots (1 - t^{\alpha_{g}})} \in \Gamma(U^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\underline{\alpha}}, \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}}).$$

The notation $\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}^{\mathfrak{a}}(t)$ is justified by the fact that the generator $\underline{\alpha} \in A_{\mathfrak{a}}^{g}$ is determined up to permutation by \mathfrak{a} and σ if dim $\sigma = g$, while $\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}^{\mathfrak{a}}(t)$ is zero if dim $\sigma < g$ since $\check{P}_{\underline{\alpha}} = \emptyset$ in this case.

Note that $\mathscr{G}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\sigma}(z)$ corresponds to $\mathscr{G}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\sigma}(t)$ through the identification $(F \otimes \mathbb{C})/(\mathfrak{a}^{-1}\mathfrak{D}^{-1}) \cong \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\mathbb{C})$.

As previously, we may also use the formal expansion

$$\mathcal{G}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\sigma}(t) = \sum_{\alpha \in \breve{\sigma} \cap \mathfrak{a}} t^{\alpha},$$

which depends only on \mathfrak{a} and σ . For any $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g) \in A^g_{\mathfrak{a}}$, let $(\alpha_j^{\tau_i})$ be the matrix in $M_g(\mathbb{R})$ whose (i, j)-component is $\alpha_j^{\tau_i}$. We let $\operatorname{sgn}(\underline{\alpha}) \in \{0, \pm 1\}$ be the signature of $\det(\alpha_j^{\tau_i})$. The Shintani generating class is constructed as in Proposition 2.2.3 as follows.

Proposition 4.2.5. *For any* $a \in \mathfrak{I}$ *and* $\underline{\alpha} \in A_{\mathfrak{a}}^{g}$ *, let*

$$\mathcal{G}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\underline{\alpha}} \coloneqq \operatorname{sgn}(\underline{\alpha}) \mathcal{G}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\sigma_{\alpha}}(t) \in \Gamma(U^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\underline{\alpha}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}}).$$

Then $(\mathcal{G}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\underline{\alpha}})$ is a cocycle in $C^{g-1}(\mathfrak{U}/F^{\times}_{+}, \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}})$, hence defines a cohomology class

$$\mathcal{G} \coloneqq [\mathcal{G}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\underline{\alpha}}] \in H^{g-1}(U/F_{+}^{\times}, \mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}}),$$

which we call the Shintani generating class.

Proof. The fact that the collection $(\mathcal{G}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\underline{\alpha}})$ is invariant under the action of F_{+}^{\times} follows from the construction. The cocycle condition is proved using the same argument as that of Proposition 2.2.3, again using the formula of [15, Proposition 6.2].

In order to account for the $N(\mathfrak{a})^k$ factor in 4.1.11, we define the F_+^{\times} -equivariant twisted sheaf $\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\overline{F}}}(k)$ on $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\overline{F}}$, analogously to 2.1.6.

Definition 4.2.6. For any $\boldsymbol{k} = (k_{\tau}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{I}$, as an $\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\overline{F}}}$ -module we let $\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\overline{F}}}(\boldsymbol{k}) \coloneqq \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\overline{F}}}$, and we define the F_{+}^{\times} -equivariant structure

$$\iota_x : \langle x \rangle^* \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\overline{F}}}(k) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\overline{F}}}(k)$$

to be the multiplication by $x^{-k} \coloneqq \prod_{\tau \in I} (x^{\tau})^{-k_{\tau}}$ for any $x \in F_{+}^{\times}$.

Then for any $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, after setting $k^I := (k, \ldots, k) \in \mathbb{Z}^I$, we have the following.

Lemma 4.2.7. For any $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{T}$, consider the multiplication by $N(\mathfrak{a})^k$ on $\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\overline{F}}}$, regarded as a homomorphism $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\overline{F}}}(k^I) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\overline{F}}}$ of sheaves on $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\overline{F}}$. Then the collection for all $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{T}$ gives an isomorphism

$$\mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\overline{F}}}(k^{I}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\overline{F}}}$$

$$(4.12)$$

of F_+^{\times} -equivariant sheaves on $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\overline{F}} = \coprod_{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}} \mathbb{T}_{\overline{F}}^{\mathfrak{a}}$.

Proof. For any $a \in \mathfrak{I}$ and $x \in F_+^{\times}$, we have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{aligned} \langle x \rangle^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\overline{F}}^{\mathfrak{a}}}(k^{I}) & \xrightarrow{N(\mathfrak{a})^k} \langle x \rangle^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\overline{F}}^{\mathfrak{a}}} \\ & N(x)^{-k} \bigg| \cong & \text{id} \bigg| \cong \\ & \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\overline{F}}^{x\mathfrak{a}}}(k^{I}) & \xrightarrow{N(x\mathfrak{a})^k} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}_{\overline{F}}^{x\mathfrak{a}}}, \end{aligned}$$

of sheaves on $\mathbb{T}_{\overline{F}}^{x\mathfrak{a}}$, which gives our assertion.

Let $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g$ be a \mathbb{Z} -basis of O_F and $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{S}$. For any $\tau \in I$, we let $\tilde{\partial}_{\mathfrak{a},\tau}$ be the differential operator

$$\widetilde{\partial}_{\mathfrak{a},\tau} \coloneqq \sum_{j=1}^{g} \alpha_{j}^{\tau} t^{\alpha_{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial t^{\alpha_{j}}}.$$

As in Lemma 2.2.5, we have a homomorphism of abelian sheaves

$$\widetilde{\partial}_{\mathfrak{a},\tau} \colon \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\overline{F}}}(k) \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\overline{F}}}(k-1_{\tau}).$$

Now, defining $\widetilde{\partial}_{\mathfrak{a}} \coloneqq \prod_{\tau \in I} \widetilde{\partial}_{\mathfrak{a},\tau}$ as before, we have homomorphisms for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\widetilde{\partial}^k_{\mathfrak{a}} \colon \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\overline{F}}} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\overline{F}}}(-k^I),$$

which, after dividing by $N(\mathfrak{a})^k$ and defining $\partial_{\mathfrak{a}}^k \coloneqq N(\mathfrak{a})^{-k} \widetilde{\partial}_{\mathfrak{a}}^k$, induce the homomorphisms

$$\partial_{\mathfrak{a}}^k \colon \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}}$$

from Lemmas 2.2.6 and 4.2.7 above.

From Proposition 2.2.4, we deduce the following.

Proposition 4.2.8. Let $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_g) \in A^g_{\mathfrak{a}}$ and $\sigma = \sigma_{\underline{\alpha}}$. For $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\partial^k_{\mathfrak{a}}$ as above, we have

$$\partial_{\mathfrak{a}}^{k}\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\xi) = N(\mathfrak{a})^{k}\zeta_{\sigma}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\xi, -k^{I})$$

for any torsion point $\xi \in U^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\underline{\alpha}}$.

If we define ∂ as the collection of $\partial_{\mathfrak{a}}$ over all $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{I}$, we have a homomorphism of abelian sheaves

$$\partial: \mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}} \to \mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}}$$

which is also compatible with the F_{+}^{\times} -action, by Lemmas 2.2.5 and 4.2.7.

We also have, as in (2.9), an induced homomorphism of groups

$$\partial: H^m(U/F^{\times}_+, \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}}) \to H^m(U/F^{\times}_+, \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}}),$$

giving rise to the classes

$$\partial^{k} \mathcal{G} \in H^{g-1}(U/F_{+}^{\times}, \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}}).$$

$$(4.13)$$

4.3 Main Theorem

Exactly as in (3.2), we have a specialization map

$$\xi^* \colon H^m(U/F_+^{\times}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{T}}) \to H^m(\xi/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}), \tag{4.14}$$

since the inclusion of schemes $\xi \to \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}$ is equivariant with respect to the inclusion of groups $\Delta_{\xi} \hookrightarrow F_{+}^{\times}$.

Now, we may use the natural identification from Proposition 3.2.5 to deduce our main theorem:

Theorem 4.3.1 (Main Theorem). Let F be a totally real number field of degree g, let ξ be a nontrivial torsion point of $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}$ and let k be an integer ≥ 0 . If we let \mathcal{G} be the Shintani generating class defined in Proposition 4.2.5, and if we let $\partial^k \mathcal{G}(\xi) \in H^{g-1}(\xi/\Delta_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi})$ be the image by the specialization map (4.14) of the class $\partial^k \mathcal{G}$ defined in (4.13), then we have

$$\partial^{k}\mathcal{G}(\xi) = \mathcal{L}(\xi\Delta, -k, \mathfrak{a}_{\xi}),$$

where \mathfrak{a}_{ξ} is an ideal such that $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^{\mathfrak{a}}$.

Proof. This follows the same reasoning as Theorem 3.1.1, this time using Propositions 4.2.8 and 4.1.11.

Corollary 4.3.2. Let χ : $\operatorname{Cl}^+_F(\mathfrak{g}) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a finite primitive Hecke character and let $L(\chi, s)$ be the Hecke L-function of χ . Then we have

$$L(\chi, -k) = \sum_{\xi \in \mathcal{F}_0[\mathfrak{g}]} c_{\chi}(\xi) \partial^k \mathcal{G}(\xi)$$

canonically.

The significance of this result is that the values at nonpositive integers of *any* Hecke L-function associated to a finite Hecke character of F may be expressed as a linear combination of the values of the derivatives of a single canonical cohomology class, the Shintani generating class G in $H^{g-1}(U/F_+^{\times}, \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T}})$. We can also see that these values are algebraic numbers.

References

- Pierre Colmez, Éléments d'analyse et d'algèbre (et de théorie des nombres), Éditions de l'École Polytechnique, Palaiseau, 2009 (French). MR2583834
- [2] _____, Résidu en s = 1 des fonctions zêta p-adiques, Invent. Math. 91 (1988), no. 2, 371–389, DOI 10.1007/BF01389373 (French). MR922806
- [3] Tsuneo Arakawa, Tomoyoshi Ibukiyama, and Masanobu Kaneko, *Bernoulli numbers and zeta functions*, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer, Tokyo, 2014. With an appendix by Don Zagier. MR3307736
- [4] Peter Stevenhagen, *The arithmetic of number rings*, Algorithmic number theory: lattices, number fields, curves and cryptography, Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., vol. 44, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2008, pp. 209–266. MR2467548
- [5] Jürgen Neukirch, Alexander Schmidt, and Kay Wingberg, *Cohomology of number fields*, 2nd ed., Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], vol. 323, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2008. MR2392026
- [6] Alexander Grothendieck, Éléments de géométrie algébrique. III. Étude cohomologique des faisceaux cohérents.*I*, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 11 (1961), 167. MR217085
- [7] _____, Sur quelques points d'algèbre homologique, Tohoku Math. J. (2) 9 (1957), 119–221, DOI 10.2748/tmj/1178244839 (French). MR102537
- [8] Kenichi Bannai, Kei Hagihara, Kazuki Yamada, and Shuji Yamamoto, *Canonical Equivariant Cohomology Classes Generating Zeta Values of Totally Real Fields* (2020), preprint, available at arXiv:1911.02650v2[math. NT].
- [9] _____, *p-adic Polylogarithms and p-adic Hecke L-functions for Totally Real Fields* (2020), preprint, available at arXiv:2003.08157[math.NT].

- [10] Haruzo Hida, Elementary theory of L-functions and Eisenstein series, London Mathematical Society Student Texts, vol. 26, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1993. MR1216135
- [11] Guido Kings and Johannes Sprang, *Eisenstein-Kronecker classes, integrality of critical values of Hecke Lfunctions and p-adic interpolation* (2020), available at arXiv:1912.03657v2[math.NT].
- [12] James R. Munkres, *Elements of algebraic topology*, Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Menlo Park, CA, 1984. MR755006
- [13] Jürgen Neukirch, Algebraic number theory, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], vol. 322, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1999. Translated from the 1992 German original and with a note by Norbert Schappacher; With a foreword by G. Harder. MR1697859
- [14] Takuro Shintani, On evaluation of zeta functions of totally real algebraic number fields at non-positive integers,
 J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. IA Math. 23 (1976), no. 2, 393–417. MR0427231
- [15] Shuji Yamamoto, On Shintani's ray class invariant for totally real number fields, Math. Ann. 346 (2010), no. 2, 449–476, DOI 10.1007/s00208-009-0405-x. MR2563695